Effects of sleep and sleep-related hormones on T-cell migration

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

und

der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Eberhard-Karls-Universität Tübingen

vorgelegt

von

Estefanía Martínez Albert

aus Alcoy, Spanien

2024

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 09. 09. 2024

Dekan der MathNat. Fakultät:	Prof. Dr. Thilo Stehle
Dekan der Medizinischen Fakultät:	Prof. Dr. Bernd Pichler

1. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Luciana Besedovsky

2. Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Jan Born

Prüfungskommission: Prof. Dr. Luciana Besedovsky Prof. Dr. Jan Born Prof. Dr. Manfred Hallschmid Prof. Dr. Stella E. Autenrieth

Erklärung / Declaration:

Ich erkläre, dass ich die zur Promotion eingereichte Arbeit mit dem Titel:

"Effects of sleep and sleep-related hormones on T-cell migration", selbständig verfasst, nur die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und wörtlich oder inhaltlich übernommene Stellen als solche gekennzeichnet habe. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass diese Angaben wahr sind und dass ich nichts verschwiegen habe. Mir ist bekannt, dass die falsche Abgabe einer Versicherung an Eides statt mit Freiheitsstrafe bis zu drei Jahren oder mit Geldstrafe bestraft wird.

I hereby declare that I have produced the work entitled "Effects of sleep and sleep-related hormones on T-cell migration", submitted for the award of a doctorate, on my own (without external help), have used only the sources and aids indicated and have marked passages included from other works, whether verbatim or in con-tent, as such. I swear upon oath that these statements are true and that I have not concealed anything. I am aware that making a false declaration under oath is punishable by a term of imprisonment of up to three years or by a fine.

Tübingen, den

Datum / Date

Unterschrift /Signature

To my family. *A mi familia*.

Statement of contributions

Some of the research presented in this thesis has been published as a scientific paper under the title "*Sleep promotes T-cell migration towards CCL19 via growth hormone and prolactin signaling in humans*", in Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, Volume 118, May 2024, with co-authors Nicolas D. Lutz, Robert Hübener, Stoyan Dimitrov, Tanja Lange, Jan Born, and Luciana Besedovsky. I, Estefanía Martínez Albert, hereby declare the following contributions to this research:

The conceptualization and design of the study was developed by Luciana Besedovsky with contributions from Tanja Lange and Jan Born. I established and implemented the immunological methodologies utilized in this study, especially the Transwell® migration assay, which was previously not established in the lab. Stoyan Dimitrov assisted with the establishment of the assays involving flow cytometry. Luciana Besedovsky supervised all experiments. I was involved in the organization and data collection process of *Experiment I*, including preparation of experimental protocols, data acquisition, and coordination of experiments in the sleep laboratory with polysomnographic measurements, collection of blood samples throughout the night and day, processing of blood samples in the wet laboratory for hormonal analyses and flow cytometry. The flow cytometry experiments were mainly performed by myself. I created the study's database for the sleep, immune, endocrine, behavioral, and actigraphy data. Robert Hübener was involved in the execution of the elaborate experiments of Experiment I, which could not be performed by one person alone due to their complexity. Nicolas D. Lutz assisted with the coordination of the sleep experiments in Experiment I. I collected all the data for Experiment II and Experiment III. Additionally, I performed the majority of the data analysis, including analysis of flow cytometry data, statistical analyses, and (re-)scoring of polysomnography data. Nicolas D. Lutz helped with the sleep analyses. I was furthermore responsible for creating visualizations to represent the data

collected during the study. This included designing graphs, charts, and other graphical representations to illustrate the findings. I wrote the initial draft of the paper, incorporating findings from the data analysis, interpretation, and relevant literature, with contributions from Luciana Besedovsky who refined the content and ensured accuracy. Some parts of the original draft and revised manuscript are included in this dissertation. I revised the manuscript at various stages of development addressing comments and suggestions from co-authors. I contributed intellectually to the project by offering insights, interpretations, and hypotheses based on the data and literature review. I engaged in discussions with co-authors to refine our understanding of the research findings and their implications. In summary, while this research project was a collaborative effort involving multiple authors, my contributions encompassed almost all stages of the research process with major contributions.

Contents

Abbreviations
List of Figures
List of Tables
1. Introduction
1.1. The immune system: the innate and the adaptive immune system
1.1.1. T lymphocytes
1.1.1.1. Naïve T cells (T _N)26
1.1.1.2. Central (T_{CM}) and Effector (T_{EM}) Memory T cells
1.1.1.3. Terminally differentiated Effector T cells (T _{TE})
1.1.2. Lymph nodes (LNs) and transendothelial migration
1.2. Sleep
1.3. Sleep-dependent hormones
1.4. The relationship between sleep, the immune, and the endocrine system
2. Aim of the work and hypotheses
3. Materials and methods
3.1. Transwell® migration assay
3.1.1. Selecting the right Transwell® permeable support system
3.1.2. Quantification of migrated cells
3.1.3. Optimizing seeding concentration
3.1.4. Optimizing chemoattractant concentration

3.1.5. Optimizing migration time	49
3.2. Experiment I	50
3.2.1. Participants	50
3.2.2. Experiment design	51
3.2.3. Polysomnography and sleep EEG analyses	52
3.2.4. Questionnaire assessment tools employed	53
3.2.5. Measurement of T-cell subpopulations	54
3.2.6. Transwell® migration assays	56
3.2.7. Hormones assays	56
3.3. Experiment II	58
3.4. Experiment III	59
3.5. Quantification and statistical analysis	61
4. Results	62
4.1. Effects of sleep on the number of different T-cell subpopulations in	n blood
(Experiment I)	62
4.2. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration (Experiment I)	64
4.2.1. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration towards CCL19	64
4.2.2. Effects of sleep on spontaneous T-cell migration	66
4.2.3. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration towards CCL5	68
4.3. Effects of sleep on hormone levels (Experiment I)	69

4.4. Effects of sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL on T-cell migration
(Experiment II)
4.5. Effects of endocrine factors on T-cell migration (Experiment III)74
5. Discussion
6. Outlook and conclusion
6.1. Outlook
6.2. Conclusion
7. Summary
8. Acknowledgements
9. References

Abbreviations

AASM: American academy of sleep medicine ACTH: adrenocorticotropic hormone ALDO: Aldosterone ANS: Autonomic nervous system APCs: Antigen presenting cells BFI: Brief Fatigue Inventory CCC: Cation-chloride cotransporter CCL19: C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 CCL21: C-C motif chemokine ligand 21 CCL5: RANTES, regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted chemokine CCR5: C-C motif chemokine receptor 5; CCL5 receptor CCR7: C-C motif chemokine receptor 7; CCL19 and CCL21 receptor CD: cluster of differentiation CD62L: L-selectin **CORT:** Cortisol CRH: Corticotropin-releasing hormone D-MEQ: Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire DC: Dendritic cell ECG: electrocardiogram EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid EEG: electroencephalogram ELISA: Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay EMG: electromyogram EOG: electrooculogram FSC-A: Forward scatter area

GH: Growth hormone GH_b: Growth hormone blocker GHRH: Growth hormone releasing hormone GPCR: G-protein coupled receptor HEVs: High endothelial venules HPA: Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal Hz: Hertz ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule 1 Ig: Immunoglobulins IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor 1 IFN-γ: Interferon-gamma IL: Interleukin IL-2: Interleukin 2 IL-2R: Interleukin 2 receptor KCC: K-Cl cotransporter LFA-1: Lymphocyte function-associated antigen LMM: Linear mixed models LN: Lymph node MALT: mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue MDBF: Mehrdimensionaler befindlichkeitsfragebogen MHC: Major histocompatibility complex Na-Hep: Sodium heparin NCC: Na-Cl cotransporter NKCC: Na-K-Cl cotransporter NREM: non-Rapid Eye Movement **OD:** Optical density

PANAS: Positive and Negative Affect Schedule PBS: Phosphate buffer saline PMBC: Peripheral blood mononuclear cells PMN: Polymorphonuclear leukocytes PNI: Psychoneuroimmunology PRL: Prolactin PRL_b: Prolactin blocker PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index REM: Rapid eye movement rpm: Revolutions per minute SD: Standard deviation SEM: Standard error of mean SF-A: Schlaffragebogen A SLO: Secondary lymphoid organ SSC-A: Side scatter area SSS: Stanford Sleepiness Scale SST: Somatostatin SWS: Slow wave sleep T_{CM}: Central memory T cells TCR: T-cell receptor T_{TE}: Terminally differentiated effector T cells T_{EM}: Effector memory T cells TEM: transendothelial migration T_N: Naïve T cells TRH: Thyrotropin-releasing hormone VCAM-1: vascular cell adhesion molecule 1

WNK1: with-no-lysine kinase 1

List of Figures

Figure 1. T-lymphocyte subpopulations according to their surface phenotype
Figure 2. Human lymphatic system
Figure 3. Transendothelial migration of T lymphocytes
Figure 4. Human EEG waveform patterns in each sleep stage and standard nocturnal sleep
hypnogram
Figure 5. Main functions and secretory pathways of growth hormone, prolactin, aldosterone,
and cortisol
Figure 6. Hormonal profile and T-cell numbers in blood during nocturnal sleep
Figure 7. Diagram of the Transwell® cell migration assay
Figure 8. Experiment I design
Figure 9. Flow cytometry gating strategy for T lymphocytes
Figure 10. Diagram of the Experiment II and Experiment III
Figure 11. Effects of sleep on the absolute counts of circulating T cells
Figure 12. Effects of sleep on CCL19-directed migration of various T-cell subsets
Figure 13. Effects of sleep on spontaneous T-cells migration
Figure 14. Effects of sleep on CCL5-directed migration of various T-cell subsets
Figure 15. Effects of sleep on GH, PRL, ALDO, and CORT levels70
Figure 16. Effects of GH and PRL on CD3 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ , and CD8 ⁺ T-cell migration towards CCL19.
Figure 17. Effects of GH and PRL on the migration of T_N and T_{CM} subsets of CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺
T cells towards CCL1972
Figure 18. Effects of GH and PRL on spontaneous migration of CD3 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ , and CD8 ⁺ T cells.

Figure 19. Effects of GH and PRL on spontaneous migration of T_N and T_{CM} subsets of CD4 ⁺
and CD8 ⁺ T cells
Figure 20. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor
blockers on the migration of CD3 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ , and CD8 ⁺ T cells towards CCL1975
Figure 21. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor
blockers on the migration of $T_{\rm N}$ and T_{CM} subsets of $CD4^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ and $CD8^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ T cells towards
CCL1976
Figure 22. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor
blockers on the spontaneous migration of CD3 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ , and CD8 ⁺ T cells77
Figure 23. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor
blockers on the spontaneous migration of $T_{\rm N}$ and T_{CM} subsets of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells.
Figure 24. Sleep enhances CCL19-directed T-cell migration via GH and PRL signaling 82

List of Tables

Table 1. Results of LMM analyses for absolute counts of circulating T-cell subsets in the in
vivo sleep experiment64
Table 2. Results of linear mixed models analyses for spontaneous, CCL19-directed, and CCL5-
directed migration of various T-cell subsets in the in vivo sleep experiment
Table 3. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated towards the chemokine CCL19
(mean \pm SEM) after incubation with sleep-like concentrations of GH or PRL compared to
their migration when incubating with a PBS control72
Table 4. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated in the absence of a chemotactic
stimulus (spontaneous migration) (mean \pm SEM) after incubation with sleep-like
concentrations of GH or PRL compared to their migration when incubating with a PBS
control73
Table 5. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated towards the chemokine CCL19
(mean \pm SEM) after incubation with plasma obtained during the Sleep condition (SP),
plasma obtained during the Wake condition (WP), and "sleep plasma" plus hormone
receptor blockers
Table 6. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated in the absence of a chemotactic
stimulus (spontaneous migration) (mean ± SEM) after incubation with plasma obtained
during the Sleep condition (SP), plasma obtained during the Wake condition (WP), and
"sleep plasma" plus hormone receptor blockers

1. Introduction

1. Introduction

We spend approximately one-third of our lives sleeping (Zielinski et al., 2016). It is widely recognized that sleep can be affected by illness, and it is a common practice to seek adequate sleep as a supportive measure for recovery from disease states. Sleep has a pivotal role in regulating the immune system, influencing the body's ability to defend itself against infections (Besedovsky et al., 2019; Opp & Krueger, 2015). Experimental studies demonstrate a twofold increase in antigen-specific antibody and T-cell responses in individuals who slept after vaccination compared to individuals who stayed awake, underscoring the significant impact of sleep on adaptive immunity (Lange et al., 2011). The distribution of immune cells between blood and lymphoid tissue in humans is intricately influenced by the circadian system and sleep patterns. Notably, sleep actively reduces T-cell numbers in blood, suggesting a potential mechanism for sleep's impact on vaccination responses by fostering T-cell migration and homing to lymph nodes (LNs) (Besedovsky et al., 2016; Born et al., 1997). However, this process has so far been largely ignored as possible target of sleep. Furthermore, the proinflammatory endocrine milieu during sleep has been associated with enhanced adaptive immune responses (Besedovsky et al., 2012), suggesting a connection between sleep, hormonal balance, and immune function. Therefore, the experiments conducted in the context of this thesis aimed at investigating the role of sleep and sleep-associated hormones on the migration potential of T cells towards LNs.

1.1. The immune system: the innate and the adaptive immune system

The immune system keeps us healthy by fighting against pathogens that threaten our body. It is divided into two parts according to the speed and specificity of the reaction: the innate and the adaptive arms of the immune system (Abbas et al., 2021). Although they are sometimes

considered two separate entities, they work together. The initial line of defense against pathogens involves specialized tissues, such as the skin, intestine, and lung epithelium, which create a physical obstacle, preventing the entry of pathogens into the body. Once these barriers are breached, the cellular and chemical elements of the immune system, including neutrophils, macrophages, monocytes, the complement system, cytokines, and acute phase proteins come into action. Combined, this genetically inherited line of defense represents the "innate immune system" (Delves & Roitt, 2000a). The "adaptive immune system" develops throughout an organism's life after pathogen exposure. This response consists of antigen-specific reactions through T lymphocytes and B lymphocytes. One of the hallmarks of the adaptive response is that it has memory, so that subsequent exposure leads to a more vigorous and rapid response (Sperling & Bluestone, 1998).

The distinctive feature of the adaptive immune system is the utilization of antigenspecific B and T cells, which become activated after the surface receptors of these cells bind to an antigen. An antigen is a molecule or molecular structure that is recognized by the immune system as foreign or non-self. Antigens can trigger an immune response in the body, leading to the production of antibodies or the activation of immune cells to defend against potential threats like viruses, bacteria, fungi, or other pathogens. Initially, antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (e.g., dendritic cells, DCs) present the antigen to a T cell via major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs), whereas B cells recognize the non-processed intact antigen in its native conformation (Delves & Roitt, 2000b). These steps usually take place within the specialized environment of lymphoid tissue (Ruddle & Akirav, 2009). Upon recognition of the antigen, the APCs are activated and undergo changes in their functional and phenotypic characteristics, differentiating into effector T cells with specific functions. After this stage, the effector response takes place, either through activated T cells that leave the lymphoid tissue to reach the disease site where they carry out different effector functions, or through the antibody release by activated B cells (i.e., plasma cells) (LeBien & Tedder, 2008; Quinn et al., 1998). Thus, humoral immunity (i.e., immunity involving soluble molecules like antibodies) depends on B cells whereas cellular (i.e., cell-mediated) immunity depends predominantly on T cells. In humoral defense, when B cells encounter specific antigens, they differentiate into plasma cells, which produce large quantities of antibodies specific to that antigen. Antibodies have several functions, including neutralizing pathogens, enhancing phagocytosis, and activating the complement system. Cell-mediated immunity focuses on eliminating infected cells and controlling the spread of intracellular pathogens involving the activation of T cells (Marshall et al., 2018).

1.1.1. T lymphocytes

T lymphocytes originate from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow, which produce progenitor T cells. These progenitor cells migrate and maturate in the thymus (Kumar et al., 2018). The process of developing functional mature T lymphocytes occurs step by step, leading to the formation of a T-cell receptor (TCR) complex. This process selectively chooses T lymphocytes with the correct affinity for self-antigens linked with MHC molecules, known as positive selection. In this process, cells predisposed to autoimmunity undergo apoptosis (negative selection) (Klein et al., 2014).

When released from the thymus, mature undifferentiated T cells (naïve T cells; T_N) migrate to secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs), where they become activated if the antigen specific for their TCR is presented by APCs (Gebhardt et al., 2011). When T cells encounter an antigen in SLOs, they proliferate from their naïve or resting state to become effector cells that carry out effector functions (Katz, 1977). Two signals, the first coming from the TCR and the second from the co-stimulation, are required for the cells to be activated and become ready to mount an immune response. According to the receptor molecules expressed on the lymphocyte

surface, called cluster of differentiation (CD), T cells can be divided into different T-cell subpopulations with a unique phenotype and different functional characteristics (Mahnke et al., 2013). Two of these surface molecules are the glycoproteins CD4 and CD8, which are co-receptors of the TCR. T cells can overall be divided into T helper cells, expressing the CD4 molecule, and cytotoxic T cells, which express the CD8 molecule (Lucas & Gribben, 2021). The main function of T helper cells is the secretion of cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-4, IL-6, and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), which stimulate the production of antibodies by B lymphocytes and the microbicide activities of macrophages. These are the two main mechanisms for the elimination of micro-organisms that are extracellular or live in phagocytic vesicles (Raphael et al., 2015). Cytotoxic T cells lyse cells that have foreign antigens on their membrane, eliminating cells infected by viruses and bacteria, as well as neoplastic cells (Wong & Pamer, 2003).

Immunocytochemistry methods allow to distinguish between the different classes of T cells because of the surface markers they present. In addition to the molecules CD4 and CD8, human T cells can be further divided into four subsets based on the expression of three surface molecules: the C-C motif chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7), L-selectin (CD62L), and the high-molecular-weight isoform of CD45 (called CD45RA). There is an overlap between the expression of CD62L and CCR7 on T cells (Wherry et al., 2003). Both surface molecules are involved in the homing of lymphocytes to lymphoid tissues, such as LNs. CCR7 and its ligands play a fundamental role in guiding different subsets of T cells and antigen-presenting DCs to migrate towards LNs (Förster et al., 2008) (*see section 1.1.2.*), which is why CCR7⁺ cells (i.e., cells that express CCR7 on their membrane) routinely travel to LNs. CD62L promotes the initial attachment of T cells to high endothelial venules (HEVs) in LNs, facilitating their entry into the lymphoid tissues (Miyasaka, 1998). CD45RA is a specific isoform of the CD45 antigen, also known as leukocyte common antigen, critical to the proper function of the TCRs (Courtney

et al., 2019). In the context of T cells, CD45RA is often used as a marker to distinguish between two major subsets: T cells expressing CD45RA (CD45RA⁺) and T cells without expressing this protein (CD45RA⁻). These subsets represent different stages of T-cell differentiation and the expression or not of CD45RA helps distinguish between resting (naïve) or terminal effector (CD45RA⁺), and memory (CD45RA⁻) T cells (Cossarizza et al., 1996; Tian et al., 2017). According to the expression or lack of it of these surface markers, T cells are divided as follows (*Figure 1*) (Mahnke et al., 2013; Sallusto et al., 2004):

- Naïve T cells (T_N): T cells expressing CD45RA and CCR7/CD62L (CD45RA⁺CCR7⁺CD62L⁺).
- Central memory T cells (T_{CM}): T cells lacking CD45RA but expressing CCR7/CD62L (CD45RA⁻CCR7⁺CD62L⁺).
- Effector memory T cells (T_{EM}): T cells lacking CD45RA and CCR7/CD62L (CD45RA⁻CCR7⁻CD62L⁻).
- Terminally differentiated effector T cells (T_{TE}): T cells expressing CD45RA but lacking CCR7/CD62L (CD45RA⁺CCR7⁻CD62L⁻).



Figure 1. T-lymphocyte subpopulations according to their surface phenotype.

(A) All T cells express the surface molecule CD3 and the T cell receptor (TCR). T cells can be divided into CD4⁺ T cells, which secrete cytokines to stimulate macrophages and antibody production by B-cells after activation, and CD8⁺ T cells, which lyse infected or neoplastic cells after activation. (B) According to the expression of CCR7, CD45RA, and CD62L, T cells can be divided into naïve (T_N), central memory (T_{CM}), effector memory (T_{EM}), and terminally differentiated effector T cells (T_{TE}). T_N and T_{CM} present high LN homing potential due to the expression of CCR7 and CD62L, whereas T_{EM} and T_{TE} present a more pronounced effector function. Adapted from Mahnke et al. 2013. Created with BioRender.com.

1.1.1.1. Naïve T cells (T_N)

 T_N are cells that have not (yet) encountered their cognate antigen. Naïve CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells leave the thymus and enter the circulation in a quiescent state (G₀ of the cell cycle). They continuously recirculate between SLOs and blood via the lymphatic system (van den Broek et al., 2018). T_N are activated in SLOs after contact with an APC, where they receive specific and co-stimulatory signals, resulting in a cascade of phosphorylations and dephosphorylations that induce the expression of several genes, like *IL-2* (interleukin 2) and its receptor, *IL-2R*. The autocrine secretion of IL-2 by the T cell provides the initial signal that allows the cell to enter the cell cycle and proliferate, creating after 4 or 5 days an expanded clone, and differentiating into effector T cells (Peterson & Maltzman, 2019). Following antigen clearance, almost all the effector cells die, but some will differentiate into memory T cells, which will provide an effective defense against frequent pathogenic micro-organisms in the environment after reencounter (Lefrançois, 2006).

1.1.1.2. Central (T_{CM}) and Effector (T_{EM}) Memory T cells

Memory T cells result from the clonal expansion and differentiation of antigen-specific T cells that ultimately persist for an extended period, often for years or even decades. The primary function of memory T cells is to provide a faster and enhanced immune responses upon reexposure to the same type of antigen compared to the initial immune response (Sprent & Surh, 2011). More than twenty years ago, the concept of cellular immunological memory was redefined by the division of circulating memory T cells into two subsets according to their migration potential, effector function, and proliferative capacity. These subpopulations were defined as Central Memory T cells (T_{CM}) and Effector Memory T cells (T_{EM}) (Sallusto et al., 1999). T_{CM} are able to migrate to lymphoid organs, where they can be re-stimulated by antigens. They are also present in blood but are relatively deficient in non-lymphoid tissues (Mueller et al., 2013). On the other hand, T_{EM} have lost the ability to home to LNs, however, they home to peripheral non-lymphoid tissues and present rapid effector functions (Mahnke et al., 2013). They express tissue homing receptors associated with inflammation (i.e., CCR5 and CXCR3) and display more readily effector functions than T_{CM} (Gray et al., 2018; Martin & Badovinac, 2018).

1.1.1.3. Terminally differentiated Effector T cells (T_{TE})

 T_{TE} no longer home to SLOs. Instead, T_{TE} cells are designed to exert their functions at the site of infection or inflammation, primarily in peripheral tissues. T_{TE} cells express markers of senescence and display the shortest telomeres among T cells (Henson & Akbar, 2009). They can be subdivided into three types: Effector CD8⁺ T cells, or cytotoxic cells, which recognize and eliminate target cells that are infected by a pathogen or have become cancerous; effector CD4⁺ T_{H1} cells, which stimulate cellular immune responses participating in the macrophage activation; and effector CD4⁺ T_{H2} cells, which stimulate humoral immune response promoting B-cell proliferation and antibody production (Kaech et al., 2002; Wan & Flavell, 2009).

1.1.2. Lymph nodes (LNs) and transendothelial migration

The lymphatic system is a complex network of vessels that spans the entire body and is responsible for transporting lymph, which contains antigens and APCs (Grant et al., 2020). It is functionally organized into two types of lymphoid organs: primary or central lymphoid organs (i.e., thymus and bone marrow), which provide the environment for lymphocyte maturation, and SLOs, which provide the environment for lymphocytes to interact with each other, or with APCs and other accessory cells, and to encounter antigens. The SLOs comprise the spleen, the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALTs), and the LNs (Boehm et al., 2012).

The human body contains approximately 500 to 600 LNs distributed throughout the body to provide region-specific immune responses (Moore Jr. & Bertram, 2018). LNs are strategically located in the network of lymphatic vessels at anatomical sites where it is easier to receive immune signals from the body (*Figure 2A*). T_N search for their cognate antigen during

frequent visits to LNs. Each LN is equipped with blood vessels and lymphatic vessels, which allow lymphocytes to enter and exit, respectively. The LNs are specially designed to retain antigens as lymph passes through them and provide an ideal environment for communication between immune cells. Each LN is divided into compartments with important functions for enabling communication between lymphocytes (*Figure 2B*). The cortex, which is the outer layer, contains the B-cell areas or follicles. The paracortex or middle area is rich in T cells and DCs (Fossum & Ford, 1985). Finally, the medulla contains B and T cells, and macrophages, and serves as a site for immune cell interaction, antibody production, antigen presentation, and lymphocyte trafficking, contributing to the overall function of LNs in immune surveillance and immune responses. T cells enters the LN through the specialized blood vessels HEVs (Girard & Springer, 1995) and move around within the T-cell area interacting with APCs, and finally leave the node via efferent lymphatic vessels to re-enter the circulation (Mondino et al., 1996). These migratory patterns give APCs, T cells, and B cells many opportunities to interact.



Figure 2. Human lymphatic system.

(A) Schematic distribution of the lymphatic vessels and LNs throughout the human body. (B) LN architecture: the lymph enters from afferent lymph vessels into the LNs and exits through efferent vessels. Three main regions can be distinguished in LNs, the cortex (B-cell area), the paracortex (T-cell area, where circulating lymphocytes enter the LNs through the specialized blood vessels HEVs and

where T cells interact with DCs), and the medulla (contains B cells, T cells, and macrophages). Created with BioRender.com.

In order to perform their defensive functions, T lymphocytes need to circulate constantly throughout the body (Butcher & Picker, 1996; von Andrian & Mackay, 2000). Lymphocyte trafficking requires specific molecules that are capable of enabling cell interactions (i.e. adhesion molecules) on the one hand and of directing cell movements to the tissues (i.e. chemokines) on the other (Alberts et al., 2002).

Adhesion molecules are found on the surface of leukocytes, endothelial, and other cells and enable the adhesion of leukocytes to other cells, which allows communication between them, an indispensable phenomenon in the generation of the immune response and cytotoxicity phenomena (Etzioni, 1996).

The main families of adhesion molecules are selectins, integrins, and the superfamily of immunoglobulins (Ig). CD62L is a selectin highly expressed in T_N and T_{CM} , as mentioned in the previous section. CD62L plays a central role in immune cell trafficking and homing to SLOs facilitating the initial tethering and rolling of lymphocytes along the endothelial walls of blood vessels (Miyasaka, 1998). Integrins are the principal receptors to bind the extracellular matrix and the actin cytoskeleton. The superfamily of Ig involved in adhesion, including the molecules intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), which are expressed on endothelial cells and act as receptors for integrins, has functions in leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells, thus facilitating extravasation and migration into tissues (Carlos & Harlan, 1994).

Chemokine attraction is an essential phenomenon in the migration of lymphocytes from blood vessels to lymphoid tissues and to sites of inflammation in response to a chemical (chemokine) gradient (Griffith et al., 2014). Chemokines are classified into different families based on the arrangement of cysteine residues in their amino acid sequences. The main chemokine families include CXC-chemokines (with two cysteines separated by one amino acid), CC-chemokines (with two adjacent cysteines), CX3C-chemokines (with three amino acids between the first two cysteines), XC-chemokines (that lack the first and the third cysteines of the motif), and CX-chemokines (non-classical chemokines). Chemokines are named according to a systematic nomenclature that includes the subfamily designation explained above, followed by the letter L (denoting "ligand"), and a number according to when the gene was first isolated. Chemokines exert their function by binding to cell receptors. Chemokine receptors are named according to the predominant type of chemokine they bind (i.e., CC, CXC, CX3C, or XC), followed by the letter R (denoting "receptor"), and a number reflecting the order of their discovery. Chemokine receptors belong to the vast family of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), which are seven transmembrane receptors that bind extracellular ligands and consequently initiate intracellular signaling (Hughes & Nibbs, 2018). Receptor specificity is complex but, usually, specific receptors bind only one type of ligand and the particular receptor expressed on a cell determines which tissue a cell will migrate to. For example, cells expressing C-C motif chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) (i.e., T_N and T_{CM}) migrate to LNs because its ligands, C-C motif chemokine ligand 19 (CCL19) and C-C motif chemokine ligand 21 (CCL21) are constitutively expressed in HEVs and the stromal cells of the draining LNs (Stein & Nombela-Arrieta, 2005; Yan et al., 2019). Gene knockout mice lacking CCR7 or CCR7 ligands show marked impairment of T-cell migration into lymphoid organs indicating that CCR7 signaling is indispensable for T-cell recruitment in vivo (Förster et al., 2008). CCL19 binds with higher affinity than CCL21 to human CCR7 and appears to be more potent at low concentrations (Bardi et al., 2001). Antigen-experienced T cells like T_{EM} and T_{TE} do not express CCR7 (Hamann et al., 2006). In contrast, they express the C-C motif chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5), the most relevant known receptor for CCL5 (also called RANTES, which stands for "regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted"). CCL5 induces migration and recruitment of T cells and other leukocytes to inflammatory sites (Marques et al., 2013).

As mentioned above, SLOs are crucial for initiation and execution of adaptive immune responses as they provide a setting for interactions between T_N and APCs recruited from local infected or inflamed tissues (Colbeck et al., 2017). Therefore, the process of T-cell migration from the blood to LNs (also known as homing or transendothelial migration) is essential (*Figure 3*). This process involves the following steps (Butcher, 1991; Ley et al., 2007):

- Rolling: Lymphocyte tethering and rolling is initiated by the contact between lymphocyte surface receptors, such as CD62L, and adhesion molecules on the HEV's endothelium. This causes the activation of the endothelial cells of the local blood vessels and consequently their expression of adhesion molecules, such as Pand E-selectins, and the integrins ICAM-1 and VCAM-1.
- 2. Adhesion: The interaction between a chemokine and its receptor leads to an intracellular signaling event, which activates adhesion molecules of the integrin family on the lymphocyte surface, such as lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1). The expression of these molecules results in increased adhesion of lymphocytes to endothelial cells. Thus, the initial contact between the two cells is no longer random and transient but becomes strong enough to establish a firm interaction between lymphocytes and endothelium.
- 3. Extravasation and migration: After firm adhesion, the lymphocyte extends pseudopodia (cellular protrusions) that help it to push between the endothelial cells. This process, known as diapedesis or transmigration, allows the lymphocyte to cross the endothelial barrier and enter the LN parenchyma. This involves dynamic adhesion phenomena that allow cell movement into other tissues (Nourshargh & Alon, 2014; von Andrian & Mempel, 2003).



Figure 3. Transendothelial migration of T lymphocytes.

Transendothelial T-cell migration in high endothelial venules (HEVs) is a critical process that occurs within LNs and is vital for the immune response. It is a carefully orchestrated process that consists of several steps: 1. Rolling: T cells begin to roll along the surface of the endothelium. During rolling, T cells interact with endothelial cells through T-cell surface receptors, such as CD62L; 2. Adhesion: activated T cells undergo a transition from rolling to firm adhesion. This transition involves the interaction of integrins on the T-cell surface with their corresponding ligands on the endothelial cells; 3. Extravasation and migration: during this step, the T cell crosses the endothelial barrier and enters the LN parenchyma. Adapted from Ley et al., 2007. Created with BioRender.com.

1.2. Sleep

Sleep is a fundamental biological phenomenon that holds significant importance for human well-being and health. Despite its apparent simplicity, sleep involves a complex interplay of physiological processes that impact various aspects of our physical and mental health. On average, we spend about one third of our lifetime sleeping (Savage & West, 2007).

Although the full extent of the functions of sleep is not completely understood, sleep research has provided valuable insights into the roles that sleep plays in various physiological and cognitive processes. Sleep is crucial for memory consolidation (Diekelmann & Born, 2010) and is linked to brain plasticity (Weiss & Donlea, 2022). It is a time of cellular repair and growth

(Everson et al., 2014) and plays a role in regulating metabolism and energy balance (Schmid et al., 2015). Additionally, sleep is essential for emotional well-being and regulation (Vandekerckhove & Wang, 2018) and helps regulate body temperature (Szymusiak, 2018). Furthermore, it is involved in the regulation of various hormones (Kim et al., 2015) (*see section 1.4*). In addition to these points, one of the key functions of sleep, and the most important one for this thesis, is the effect of sleep on the immune system, which is explained in detail in *section 1.4*.

Polysomnography, which is considered the "gold standard" technique for measuring sleep, allows to define the primary stages of sleep and wakefulness, each marked by specific patterns of brain activity and physiological responses. Polysomnography measurements include electroencephalogram (EEG) to measure bran activity, electromyogram (EMG) to measure muscle tone, and electrooculogram (EOG) to measure eye movements (Kryger et al., 2011).

During sleep, two main states are observed: Non-Rapid Eye Movement (NREM) sleep and Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep. According to the more ancient classification by Kales & Rechtschaffen (Kales & Rechtschaffen, 1968). NREM sleep is divided into four different stages, S1-S4, each defined by specific polysomgrographic measures (*Figure 4A*). In a more recent classification system from the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM), NREM is divided into the three stages N1-N3 (Iber, 2007). The initial stage, S1 (or N1 according to AASM), occurs primarily at the onset of sleep, and serves as a transitional stage between wakefulness and sleep. It represents a light sleep stage characterized by reduced muscle activity and slow eye movements. People in this stage can be easily awakened. After S1, a person enters stage 2, S2 (or N2), marked by reduced heart rate, breathing rate, and the occurrence of sleep spindles and K complexes, which are specific patterns of brain activity. Sleep spindles manifest as 12- to 14-Hz synchronized EEG waveforms. With the onset of S2 the arousal threshold increases and, as the stage progresses, high-voltage slow-wave activity increases to the point of becoming stage 3, S3. Stages 3 and 4 of NREM sleep (stage N3 in the AASM classification) are referred to as deep sleep or slow-wave sleep (SWS). SWS is characterized by high amplitude (>75 μ V) and slow (0.5–2 Hz) EEG waves, called delta waves. In contrast, REM sleep exhibits a distinct EEG pattern characterized by low voltage and rapid frequencies, accompanied by skeletal muscle atonia and episodes of rapid eye movements (Berry, 2012).

Each sleep stage serves distinct functions that contribute to overall health and wellbeing: S2 supports memory consolidation and cognitive processing (Antony et al., 2019; Ruch et al., 2012). During SWS, physical restoration, hormone regulation, memory consolidation, and potential cognitive benefits, including improved problem-solving, are prominent (Diekelmann & Born, 2010; Hilditch & McHill, 2019; Payne, 2011). REM sleep plays a role in emotional regulation, cognitive functions, and memory consolidation, particularly for procedural and emotional memories (Peever & Fuller, 2017).

The sleep cycle progresses through these stages in a cyclical manner and can be graphically represented in a hypnogram, a visual record of an individual's sleep stages and patterns throughout a period of time (*Figure 4B*). A complete sleep cycle typically lasts around 90 to 110 minutes and consists of several cycles throughout the night. The distribution of NREM and REM sleep within each cycle changes as the night progresses. Early in the night, deep sleep stages are more predominant, while REM sleep becomes more prominent in the later cycles, especially toward morning.



Figure 4. Human EEG waveform patterns in each sleep stage and standard nocturnal sleep hypnogram.

(A) EEG waveform patterns characterizing the individual sleep stages. (B) Generalized sleep architecture during the course of one night.

EEG: electroencephalogram; EOG: electrooculogram; EMG: electromyogram; S1: stage 1; S2: stage 2; SWS: slow wave sleep; REM: rapid eye movement. Modified from Lan et al., 2015, and Payne, 2011.

1.3. Sleep-dependent hormones

The endocrine system governs the secretion of essential hormones that regulate diverse physiological processes. Key components of this system include glands such as the hypothalamus and the pituitary gland, which comprises the adenohypophysis (or anterior pituitary) and the neurohypophysis (or posterior pituitary). The anterior pituitary synthesizes and secretes several hormones, including growth hormone (GH) and prolactin (PRL).

GH synthesis and secretion are regulated by hypothalamic hormones: growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) stimulates GH production and release, while somatostatin (SST) inhibits it. GH plays various roles in the body, including promoting growth and development, stimulating protein production, influencing fat distribution, regulating glucose metabolism through the production of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), promoting bone growth, and stimulating the immune system (Murray et al., 2015).

PRL synthesis by lactotrophs is stimulated by thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) and inhibited by dopamine. Additionally, PRL has a negative feedback mechanism on its own production by stimulating the release of dopamine in the hypothalamus. The primary functions of PRL include milk production and the development of mammary glands within breast tissues. However, it also exerts effects on other targets important for the reproduction of the mammalian
species. Furthermore, PRL plays a crucial role in regulating humoral and cellular immune responses in both physiological and pathological states (Freeman et al., 2000).

The mineralocorticoid hormone aldosterone (ALDO) is produced by the adrenal glands, specifically in the adrenal cortex. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system plays a crucial role in regulating ALDO production (Ames et al., 2019). ALDO influences water and salt regulation in the body, regulates blood volume and electrolyte balance, contributing to the maintenance of blood pressure, influences neurogenesis, and modulates the immune system (Katsu & Baker, 2021).

Cortisol (CORT), a glucocorticoid produced by the adrenal cortex, is a key player in the body's response to stress (Charmandari et al., 2005). It is linked to the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis, a neuroendocrine system that mediates the effects of stressors by regulating several physiological processes, including metabolism, immune responses, and the autonomic nervous system (ANS) (Smith & Vale, 2006; Spencer & Deak, 2017). It comprises, besides the hypothalamus and the pituitary gland, the adrenal glands, situated on top of the kidneys. When the body encounters a stressor, the hypothalamus releases corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH). CRH signals the pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the bloodstream. ACTH travels to the adrenal cortex and induces the secretion of glucocorticoids, such as CORT. CORT helps the body cope with stress by regulating metabolism and having anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects. Receptors in the hypothalamus and the pituitary gland sense when CORT levels in blood are high, triggering a negative feedback mechanism that shuts down the stress response (Sheng et al., 2021).

37



Figure 5. Main functions and secretory pathways of growth hormone, prolactin, aldosterone, and cortisol.

Among other hormones, the anterior pituitary gland secretes growth hormone (GH) through growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH), and prolactin (PRL) through thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH). The adrenal cortex produces aldosterone (ALDO), a process regulated primarily through the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, and cortisol (CORT), regulated through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, involving corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH). These hormones contribute to various regulatory processes within the body. Created with BioRender.com.

1.4. The relationship between sleep, the immune, and the endocrine system

Psychoneuroimmunology (PNI) is a young multidisciplinary field of study that explores the intricate connections between psychological processes, the nervous system, the immune

system, and the endocrine system. It seeks to unravel the complex interplay between these systems, shedding light on how thoughts, emotions, and behaviors can influence immune responses. Among various human behaviors, PNI investigates the dynamic interactions between sleep and immune responses, as well as the role of the endocrine system in mediating these interactions (Tausk et al., 2008).

Sleep plays a significant role in modulating the immune system. Research has shown that both the quantity and quality of sleep can influence immune responses, affecting the body's ability to defend against infections, regulate inflammation, and promote overall immune system health (Irwin, 2015). Specifically, sleep is a profound regulator of adaptive immunity (Besedovsky et al., 2019), as evidenced, e.g., by experimental studies in humans. These studies revealed that individuals who slept after vaccination exhibited a twofold increase in antigen-specific antibody and T-cell responses compared to those who stayed awake at night (Lange et al., 2011; Lange et al., 2003). These findings are further supported by broader observational studies across larger populations, indicating a close link between short habitual sleep duration and diminished responsiveness to vaccinations (Prather et al., 2012). However, the underlying mechanisms that drive the impact of sleep on the development of adaptive immunity remain poorly understood.

It is important to distinguish the role of sleep in the regulation of immunity from the influence of the circadian system. The circadian system synchronizes internal biological rhythms with external environmental cues, primarily the light-dark cycle, through internal biological clocks, like the suprachiasmatic nuclei located in the hypothalamus, and peripheral clocks (Scheiermann et al., 2013). When comparing the effect of a regular 24-hour sleep-wake cycle on certain immune parameters to a 24-hour cycle of continuous wakefulness on the same parameters, some studies revealed that certain aspects of immunity are mainly influenced by circadian processes, while other immune measures are primarily governed by sleep. In humans,

the distribution of immune cells between the blood, lymphoid tissue, and non-lymphoid tissue is dependent on combined influences from the circadian system and sleep (Besedovsky et al., 2012). Regardless of nocturnal sleep, the numbers of granulocytes, leukocytes, monocytes, and lymphocytes peak in the evening and then decline to reach a minimum in the morning (Born et al., 1997). On top of this rhythm, sleep actively reduces $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T-cell numbers, as well as their subpopulations (T_N , T_{CM} , T_{EM} , and T_{TE}) in blood when compared to the respective time point during a nocturnal vigil (Besedovsky et al., 2016). This fact has been taken to hypothesize, as an underlying mechanism of the effect of sleep on vaccination, that sleep fosters the extravasation of T cells and their subsequent homing to LNs, considering that a higher number of T cells recruited to LNs is linked to a more robust adaptive immune response (Pulendran & Ahmed, 2006). Studies in animals have demonstrated a decline in lymphocyte count in LNs (Ruiz et al., 2017) and a reduction in the mRNA expression levels of genes related to immune cell recruitment into LNs (i.e., *CCL19, CCR7, CD62L*) in mice subjected to sleep deprivation (Tune et al., 2020). However, there is currently a lack of evidence supporting the idea that sleep indeed enhances lymphocyte migration towards LNs in humans.

An important mediator of the effects of sleep on the immune system is the endocrine system. During sleep, blood levels of CORT drop (Steiger, 2002) while mediators that promote cell growth, such as GH and PRL, show a steep increase in their blood levels (Sadamatsu et al., 1995; Spiegel et al., 1995). In contrast, prolonged sleep loss might disrupt the balance of the HPA axis, leading to elevated CORT levels and impaired immune function. This imbalance, together with alterations in cytokine production, could foster a pro-inflammatory state in the body which, combined with a compromised immune system, would increase susceptibility to infections (Sternberg, 2006).

Studies suggest that during the early part of nocturnal sleep, which is when SWS is dominant, cell-mediated immunity is optimally promoted (Besedovsky et al., 2019). This is

attributed to the pro-inflammatory endocrine milieu present during SWS, where glucocorticoid release is suppressed, and GH and PRL release are promoted (Lange et al., 2010; Westermann et al., 2015). These hormones boost immune cell activation, proliferation, T-cell migration, differentiation, and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Haus, 2007; Kelley et al., 2007), and, thus, eventually aid the initiation of adaptive immune responses (*Figure 6*).

The association between SWS and the pro-inflammatory endocrine milieu was also present during a vaccination study, where high SWS activity (SWA) as well as an increase in GH and PRL, and a decrease in CORT during the night following hepatitis A vaccination, was correlated with the percentage of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells measured up to one year later (Lange et al., 2003), suggesting that GH and PRL might act as adjuvants that boost adaptive immunity. Furthermore, it has been shown that a specific enhancement of slow oscillations by auditory closed-loop stimulation during sleep, a technique that involves delivering auditory stimuli during specific sleep stages, in healthy participants, intensified the hormonal milieu characteristic of SWS and reduced lymphocytes counts (Besedovsky et al., 2017), likely reflecting a redistribution of these cells to lymphoid tissues.



Figure 6. Hormonal profile and T-cell numbers in blood during nocturnal sleep.

(A) Difference in hormonal plasma levels (GH, PRL, ALDO, and CORT) and T-cell subsets (T_N , T_{CM} , T_{EM} , and T_{TE}) during a 24h sleep-wake cycle (sleep: thick line; wake: thin line. Gray area represents sleep time). (B) Potential mechanism explaining the supporting role of sleep on adaptive immunity: During slow wave sleep (SWS) there is a pro-inflammatory profile characterized by high levels of GH, PRL, and ALDO, and low levels of CORT, which is thought to mediate the decrease of T-cell numbers in blood and, therefore, to increase the migration of the cells to LN, which supports adaptive immunity. Adapted from Lange et al., 2010. Created with BioRender.com.

2. Aim of the work and hypotheses

There are hints that sleep supports the homing of T cells to LNs, which could explain the beneficial effect of sleep on the adaptive immune response. Nevertheless, functional assays that prove this hypothesis in humans were lacking so far. For that reason, the primary aim of this project was to investigate the effects of sleep on the migration potential of T cells towards LNs. To this aim, the migration of the main human $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T-cell subpopulations (i.e. T_N , T_{CM} , T_{EM} , T_{TE}) towards the chemokine CCL19, which is important for attracting T cells to LNs (*Experiment I*), was measured in healthy participants during a normal 24-h sleep-wake cycle and during a 24-h wakefulness condition.

To determine if the potential effect of sleep on T-cell migration is specific to CCL19, it was also in the scope of this thesis to investigate whether sleep affects the migration of T cells towards the chemokine CCL5, which serves a very different function than CCL19 as it is involved in regulating recruitment of T cells to inflammatory sites.

In addition, it is important to characterize in more detail the mediators responsible for the impact of sleep on distinct T-cell subsets. Thus, another aim of this work was to investigate the effects of sleep-dependent hormones on the migration potential of T cells as potential hormone mediators of the sleep effects. In order to do this, T-cell migration towards CCL19 was measured after the incubation of the cells with sleep-like concentrations of the hormones GH and PRL, which were strongly affected by sleep in *Experiment I (Experiment II)*. Furthermore, to determine if the endocrine constellation present during sleep is responsible for enhancing the migratory potential, T cells were incubated with plasma from sleeping participants and receptor-blockers of the mentioned hormones (*Experiment III*).

Together, the combined hypotheses of this thesis are:

- I. T cells exhibit a stronger directed migration towards CCL19 when donors are normally sleeping compared to when they are sleep deprived.
- II. The effect of sleep on T-cell migration is specific to the migration of T cells towards CCL19 and it does not affect the migration towards the chemokine CCL5.
- III. T cells incubated with sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL display a stronger directed migration towards CCL19 compared to the migration of T cells incubated with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) as a control.
- IV. T cells incubated with plasma from sleeping donors display a stronger directed migration towards CCL19 compared to T cells incubated with plasma from donors who spent 24 h awake.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Transwell[®] migration assay

To assess the migration of T cells, Transwell[®] assays were performed in the experiments of this thesis. A Transwell[®] assay, also known as Boyden chamber assay, cell migration or cell invasion assay, is a technique employed to study the movement of cells through a porous membrane. It measures the migratory capability of cells in response to or in the absence of a chemoattractant. This assay involves two chambers separated by a porous membrane that permits cellular transmigration (Boyden, 1962). The selection of the membrane pore size depends on the size of the cell to be analyzed. Initially, cells are placed in the upper chamber within a medium and then migrate vertically through the pores in the membrane into the lower compartment. The lower compartment contains a medium with chemoattractants or an increased serum content, facilitating cellular attraction and movement. A concentration gradient of chemoattractant is established between the two chambers, maintained by surface tension, which prevents the chemoattractant from readily diffusing into the upper chamber (Kramer et al., 2013) (*Figure 7*).

It is also possible to measure the spontaneous migration of cells in a Transwell® assay. It refers to the movement of cells through the porous membrane of the insert without the presence of any external chemotactic or migratory cues. In other words, cells move on their own accord without any specific signaling factors guiding their migration. In experimental settings, spontaneous migration is often considered a baseline or control measurement. It allows researchers to distinguish between cells that are truly responding to an attractant and those moving due to inherent cellular processes.

45



Figure 7. Diagram of the Transwell® cell migration assay.

Media with cell suspension is added into a Transwell® insert with a porous membrane. A chemoattractant is added into the bottom chamber to form a chemotactic gradient. Cells sense the chemotactic gradient and migrate through the pores of the Transwell® membrane. Created with BioRender.com.

There are several standardized protocols explaining how to perform a typical Transwell® assay, but its optimization is required to set up well organized and reproducible studies. There are several important considerations to keep in mind to ensure the accuracy, reliability, and success of the assay, which are described in the following.

3.1.1. Selecting the right Transwell® permeable support system

The choice of pore size depends on the type of cells under study. If the pore size is too small, migration may be limited because cells simply cannot adjust their morphology enough to pass through the pores. On the other hand, if the pores are too large, cells are more likely to fall through the pores generating inaccurate migration assay results. According to Corning's "Transwell® permeable supports selection and use guide", the appropriate pore size for a chemotaxis study, specifically for transepithelial migration, are typically 3, 5, or 8 μ m. For the study of T-cell migration present in this thesis, a pore size of 5 μ m was used.

Proper controls are also essential for understanding and validating the results. In a chemotaxis assay, these controls may include wells without chemoattractant to assess the spontaneous migration of the cells.

3.1.2. Quantification of migrated cells

Choosing an appropriate method to quantitate the number of migrating cells is an important step. A commonly employed technique includes delicately swabbing the upper side of the permeable insert to remove cells that have not migrated, followed by fixing and staining the migrated cells. The cells are then counted using a microscope (Pijuan et al., 2019). However, this method does not allow discrimination among different leukocytes. For this reason, in the present thesis, a flow cytometry-based Transwell® assay was used that combined the migration assay and its quantification by staining both, the cell fraction in the upper chamber (non-migrated cells) and the cell fraction in the lower chamber (migrated cells), with fluorescence-labeled monoclonal antibodies, which are then analyzed by a flow cytometer (Kränkel et al., 2011).

3.1.3. Optimizing seeding concentration

Determining the optimal cell density to use in the upper chamber to avoid overcrowding or sparse cell distribution is another important factor. If too few cells are used, there will not be enough cells to get accurate counts due to the small sample size. On the other hand, using too many cells can oversaturate the pores, leading to inaccurate results.

Before determining the optimal cell concentration, it was necessary to decide which type of sample preparation to use. Typically, Transwell® assays are performed using peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). However, the goal was to use whole blood (WB), because this has several advantages. WB represents the natural physiological state and includes all components of blood, including leukocytes, erythrocytes, platelets, and plasma. This allows for a comprehensive analysis of immune cells and their interactions within the context of the bloodstream (Basu & Kulkarni, 2014). Likewise, WB retains the cellular interactions present in the physiological environment, which can be critical for studying cell-cell communication and immune cell functionality (Forlin et al., 2023). Furthermore, using WB requires minimal processing, making it suitable for rapid assays. In contrast, use of PBMC is labor-intensive and requires several methodological steps that must be strictly followed, which adds more complexity to the experimental design and widens the potential for methodological errors. PBMC processing for lymphocyte isolation also requires a higher amount of blood than when using WB. Due to the multiple blood draws on the participants during the whole experiment setup in the current study, it is important to minimize the amount of blood used as much as possible. For these practical and methodological reasons, the first step for the assay's optimization was to compare WB vs PBMC as a sample source.

While several groups in the past have tried to use WB as the source of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN), such as granulocytes, in a Transwell® assay successfully, there is no detailed and established protocol for the procedure. Some studies have even found that PMNs in the WB preparations exhibited greater chemotactic responses than the isolated PMNs, suggesting that the isolation of PMN could lead to injury of the cells, or that there were factors present in the WB preparations that enhanced the ability of the PMN to respond to the chemoattractants (Rice & Bignold, 1992).

In order to compare both cellular sources, a series of test experiments was performed seeding PBMCs or WB in the upper chamber. First, for assessing the optimal concentration of WB to add, different dilutions of WB in RPMI media were examined (undiluted WB, 1:2, 1:4, and 1:10 dilution). All the tests were conducted in duplicates. The concentration that allowed

optimal migration and proper differentiation of T cells was 1:4. Afterwards, a comparison between WB and PBMCs was made. According to the manufacturer, the optimal concentration of PBMCs to seed in a Transwell® assay is 2-5x10⁵ cells/ml. PBMCs were isolated using standard protocols (Kleiveland, 2015). All the tests were conducted in duplicates. There was no difference in T-cell migration between WB and PBMCs in any of the tests performed, which indicated that WB could be used as a source of lymphocytes for future experiments.

3.1.4. Optimizing chemoattractant concentration

It is important to perform a serial dilution of the chemoattractant to select the optimal concentration. CCL19 and CCL5 are two chemokines widely used in chemotaxis assays, but their optimal concentration depend on the type of experiment performed. To titrate the optimal chemokine concentration, tests were performed using concentrations of 100 ng/ml, 200 ng/ml, 400 ng/ml, and 600 ng/ml. All tests were performed in duplicates and included a negative control. The concentration that ensured optimal T-cell migration was found to be 400 ng/ml for CCL19 and 200 ng/ml for CCL5.

3.1.5. Optimizing migration time

There are many factors that influence the time required for a cell to migrate through the pores of a permeable support. Some of these include chemoattractant type/concentration, cell biology, and barrier thickness/concentration. Therefore, it is critical to optimize the migration time for the specific conditions. Typically, an incubation time of 2 h to 4 h is sufficient to achieve the desired results. In a battery of tests, the optimal incubation time was determined by testing the following times: 30 min, 1 h, 2 h, 4 h, and 6 h. All the tests were conducted in duplicates under consistent incubation conditions of 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The results indicated that the optimal incubation time, which yielded better migration indexes for both chemokines, was 4 h.

3.2. Experiment I

3.2.1. Participants

Fourteen young healthy participants, 7 women and 7 men, were included in this randomized, within-subject, *in vivo* experiment (mean \pm SD age: 23.9 \pm 3.37 years). None of the participants had a medical history of any relevant chronic disease or psychological disorders, and the absence of acute illness was confirmed through physical examination and routine laboratory investigation. They were non-smokers, did not suffer from known sleep disturbances, and were not taking any medication at the time of the experiments, except for oral contraceptives in female participants.

The participants were synchronized by daily activities and nocturnal rest. They had a regular sleep-wake rhythm and were required to fill in a sleep diary and wore an actigraph (MotionWatch 8, ©CamNtech Ltd, Cambridgeshire, UK) during the week preceding the study and until the end of the experimental session. Additional inclusion criteria comprised age between 18 to 30 years, no alcohol or drug dependence, a body-mass index between 20-25 kg/m², no shift work or intercontinental flights within the last 6 weeks, and no blood or plasma donation within the last 4 weeks. They were asked to not ingest caffeine or alcohol and not take naps during the days of the experimental sessions. All participants spent one adaptation night in the laboratory in order to become accustomed to the experimental setting. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Tübingen, and all participants gave written informed consent prior to participation in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

3. Material and methods

3.2.2. Experiment design

Participants spent two 24-hour experimental sessions in the sleep laboratory. On experimental nights, they arrived at the laboratory at 20:30 h for the preparation of blood sampling and polysomnographic recordings, and stayed until 22:30 h the next day. The Sleep condition included a regular sleep-wake cycle (participants were allowed to sleep for an eight-hour period starting at 23:00 h (lights off \pm 15 minutes)) whereas in the Wake condition, participants remained awake throughout the 24 h experimental period. During this time, they were allowed to watch TV, listen to music and talk to the experimenter at dim room light (approximately 2 lx measured at the eye level). On the Wake condition, participants stayed awake in bed in a half-supine position between 23:00 h and 07:00 h. There were four weeks of separation between each experimental session and the order of conditions was balanced across participants. In order to control for the influence of the menstrual hormones, both conditions took place in the same phase of the menstrual cycle in the female participants.

To analyze lymphocyte phenotyping and assess T-cell migration, blood samples were obtained every 4 hours from 22:00 h (baseline) until 18:00 h the following day. Additionally, hourly blood collections were conducted from 22:00 h to 7:00 h during the experimental nights and at 22:00 h on the subsequent day for hormone concentration measurement. During the time in between blood sampling, the participants remained in the laboratory under experimenter supervision to ensure consistent meals, tasks, and physical activity. They received meals at 08:00 h, 12:00 h, and 18:15 h. Following the final blood sampling at 22:00 h, the participants left the laboratory and had a regular night of sleep at home. The following day, they resumed their normal activities and returned to the laboratory for an additional blood sampling at 20:00 h to assess whether any effect of the sleep manipulation persisted after recovery sleep (*Figure* δ). Blood was collected through an intravenous forearm catheter connected to an extended thin tube. This setup facilitates blood collection from an adjacent room without disrupting the

participant's sleep. Blood samples were processed immediately after collection. To prevent clotting during the experimental period, approximately 800 ml of saline solution was infused.



Figure 8. Experiment I design.

Healthy participants underwent two 24 h sessions in the sleep laboratory with repeated blood sampling to assess T-cell parameters (represented by gray squares) and hormones (represented by black circles). During the Sleep condition, participants had 8 h of nocturnal sleep, while in the Wake condition, they remained awake throughout the 24 h period. They spent the following night at home before returning the next day to the laboratory for an additional blood sampling at 20:00 h. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

3.2.3. Polysomnography and sleep EEG analyses

Sleep was determined from polysomnographic recordings (according to the international 10-20 system) from electrodes attached at F3 and F4 (frontal), C3 and C4 (central), and O1 and O2 (occipital) positions, and referenced online against the mean of the two mastoids (A1, A2). EOG, EMG (electrodes positioned on the chin) and electrocardiogram (ECG) were also recorded with bipolar montages. The recordings were digitized at a sampling rate of 500 Hz using a BrainAmp MR plus system (Brain Products, Germany). EEG and EOG data were filtered at a frequency of 0.16 Hz (high-pass) and 30 Hz (low-pass) and EMG data at a frequency of 5.31 Hz (high-pass) and 90 Hz (low-pass). In addition, a notch filter was applied

at 50 Hz. Sleep stages were determined offline and manually for subsequent 30-seconds recording epochs following standard criteria (Kales & Rechtschaffen, 1968).

3.2.4. Questionnaire assessment tools employed

To account for potential covariates that could influence the results, participants filled in the following questionnaires during the adaptation and/or experimental nights:

- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (Buysse et al., 1989): a self-rated questionnaire, which assesses retrospectively (for the last four weeks) different aspects of sleep (i.e. subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping medication, and daytime dysfunction).
- Stanford Sleepiness Scale (SSS) (Hoddes et al., 1972): evaluates a person's subjective level of sleepiness at a given moment. The scale consists of seven points, ranging from 1 ("Feeling active and vital; alert; wide awake.") to 7 ("Almost in reverie; sleep onset soon; lost struggle to remain awake.").
- Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire (D-MEQ) (Horne & Ostberg, 1976): this scale assesses individual differences in morningness and eveningness in human circadian rhythms. The respondents are asked to indicate when, for example, they would prefer to wake up or start sleep, rather than when they actually do.
- Schlaffragebogen A (SF-A) (Görtelmeyer, 2011): used for the quantitative and qualitative description and evaluation of sleep behavior and sleep experience related to the previous night.
- Mehrdimensionaler Befindlichkeitsfragebogen (MDBF) (Steyer et al., 1994): a multidimensional questionnaire to determine subjective well-being. It contains a total

53

of 24 items such as "I feel good" or "I feel balanced", which are rated on a five-point response scale with the endpoints 1 ("not at all") and 5 ("very much").

- Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) (Watson et al., 1988): a scale consisting of different words that describe feelings and emotions used to measure positive and negative affect.
- Brief Fatigue Inventory (BFI) (Mendoza et al., 1999): a short scale used to assess quickly the severity of fatigue. Participants rate each item on a 0-10 numeric scale, with 0 meaning "no fatigue" and 10 meaning "fatigue as bad as you can imagine".

3.2.5. Measurement of T-cell subpopulations

The absolute counts of total CD3⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells as well as their naïve (T_N, CD45RA⁺CD62L⁺), central memory (T_{CM}, CD45RA⁻CD62L⁺), effector memory (T_{EM}, CD45RA⁻CD62L⁻), and terminal effector (T_{TE} , CD45RA⁺CD62L⁻) subsets were determined using a "lyse no-wash" flow cytometry procedure. Briefly, 90 µl of WB sampled in a sodiumheparin S-monovette® (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany) was immunostained with antianti-CD4/BV421, anti-CD8/PerCP, anti-CD45RA/AF700, CD3/BV510, and anti-CD62L/FITC (Catalogue numbers: 317332, 357424, 980916, 304120, 304838; all from BioLegend, San Diego, CA, US)), in TrucountTM tubes (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, US). Following a 15 minutes incubation in the dark at room temperature, 900 µl of FACS lysing solution (BD Biosciences) was added and the cells were incubated for another 15 minutes. After this time, the samples were stored at 4 °C and measured within the next 24 h. At least 10,000 CD3⁺ cells were acquired on a LSRFortessa using DIVA Software (BD Biosciences). The gating strategy used to determine the different T-cell populations is shown in *Figure 9*. The absolute number of cells per μ l was then calculated using the following formula: cells/ μ l = (acquired cell events in the respective gate) x (number of beads per tube) / ((acquired bead events) x (sample volume $[\mu l]$)).



Figure 9. Flow cytometry gating strategy for T lymphocytes.

Representative density plots showing the gating strategy used for defining the different T-cell subpopulations. From left to right on the above panel, the lymphocyte gate (on the forward scatter area [FSC-A]/ side scatter area [SSC-A] plot), the FSC-A/FSC height (FSC-H) duplet exclusion, and the gating of CD3⁺ cells are shown. On the lower panel (from right to left), proceeding from the CD3⁺ T cells population, the CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ T cells, and the subsequent gating of their populations based on the antibodies CD62L and CD45RA are shown.

3.2.6. Transwell® migration assays

Migration assays were performed using 5-µm pore-sized polycarbonate membrane Transwell® inserts (Corning Incorporated, Tewksbury, MA, US). Briefly, 200 µl of a 1:4 dilution of the participant's fresh WB sampled in a sodium-heparin (Na-Hep) S-monovette® and media RPMI 1640 (Gibco, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, US) were added to the upper chamber. In the lower chamber, RPMI with Recombinant Human CCL19 (400 ng/ml; BioLegend), Recombinant Human CCL5 (200 ng/ml; BioLegend), or RPMI alone (for assessment of spontaneous migration) were added in a total volume of 600 µl. After 4 h of incubation at 37 °C and 5% CO₂, 100 µl of the liquid from both, the upper and lower chambers, were collected and immunostained with anti-CD3/BV510, anti-CD4/BV421, anti-CD8/PerCP, anti-CD45RA/AF700, and anti-CD62L/FITC (all from BioLegend). After 15 minutes of incubation at room temperature in the dark, 900 µl of FACS lysing solution (BD Biosciences) was added and the cells were incubated for another 15 minutes. After this time, the samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 500 g and 21 °C, and 700 µl of the supernatant was discarded. Then, the samples were stored at 4 °C and measured within the next 24 h on a BD LSRFortessa. To calculate a migration index, the number of cells that had migrated to the lower chamber as well as the number of cells in the upper chamber (i.e., the number of non-migrated cells) were counted and used in the following calculation: [number of migrated cells / number of nonmigrated cells] x 100. Targeted migration towards CCL19 and CCL5 was calculated by subtracting their migration index from the RPMI control.

3.2.7. Hormones assays

Blood for measuring the concentration of GH, PRL, and CORT was sampled in a Lithium-Heparin S-monovette® and stored at 4 °C until the end of the experimental session for their assay. The tubes were centrifuged and the levels of these hormones were measured using an automated immunoassay process (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Tarrytown, NY, US) at the central laboratory unit of the Universitätsklinikum Tübingen. In this system, participants' samples were collected and mixed with specific reagents containing antibodies designed to selectively bind to the target hormone. Following incubation and the formation of immune complexes, solid-phase separation and washing procedures removed unbound substances. The remaining immune complexes were detected using a signal-producing system. Calibration standards with known hormone concentrations assisted in creating a calibration curve for accurate quantification. The lower limit of detection was 0.05 μ g/l for GH, 0.3 μ g/l for PRL, and 5.5 nmol/l for CORT. CORT levels were measured to exclude that this stress hormone was affected by the sleep manipulation.

Regarding the assessment of ALDO levels, blood was sampled in a Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA) S-monovette® and centrifuged immediately at 3,000 g and 4 °C for 15 minutes to obtain EDTA plasma that was then stored at -80 °C until assay. ALDO concentration was measured using a commercially available Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) kit (DRG Instruments GmbH, Marburg, Germany), which is based on the principle of competitive binding. A monoclonal antibody directed towards a unique antigenic site of the ALDO molecule was immobilized on a microtiter plate provided in the kit. Standards and samples were added to the plate. The microplate was first incubated on a plate shaker for 1 h at room temperature at \sim 500 rpm. The ALDO in the sample competes with the added enzyme conjugate (ALDO conjugated to horseradish peroxidase) for binding to the coated antibody. The plate was washed with wash solution provided in the kit to remove all unbound substances and incubated with the substrate solution containing 3,3',5,5'tetramethylbenzidine. After 30 minutes incubation on a plate shaker at room temperature, stop solution was added to stop the colorimetric reaction. The optical density (OD) of the resulting yellow product was then measured at 450 nm using an LB 942-TriStar2S microplate reader (Berthold, Bad Wildbad, Germany). The intensity of the color is inversely proportional to the concentration of the analyte in the sample. A standard curve is constructed by plotting OD values against concentrations of standards, and concentrations of unknown samples are determined using this standard curve.

3.3. Experiment II

Seven healthy participants, 4 women and 3 men (mean \pm SD age: 26.4 ± 3.04 years), took part in this *in vitro* experiment. None of the participants had a medical history of any chronic disease or mental disorder, and acute illness was excluded by physical examination and routine laboratory investigation. All participants had a regular sleep/wake rhythm, did not take any medications at the time of the experiment (except for oral contraceptives in female participants), and were nonsmokers. All of them gave written informed consent prior to participation in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Tübingen.

The participants' blood was sampled using a Na-Hep S-monovette® and then incubated with sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL (GH: 10 ng/ml, Gibco, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, US; PRL: 20 μ g /L, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, US), defined by the physiological sleep concentrations of the hormones seen in previous studies (Dimitrov et al., 2004; Lange et al., 2006), or with PBS (as a "no hormone" control condition) for 2 h at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. The blood was sampled at 18:00 h because it has been shown in our own results and previous literature (Lange et al., 2006) that the blood concentration of these hormones is low at this time of the day. The rationale behind choosing a time when hormone levels are low is to isolate or minimize the influence of the blood donors' own hormones on the experiment.

The duration of incubation with the hormones was determined in previous experiments where 6 durations were studied (5 minutes, 30 minutes, 1 h, 2 h, 3 h, and 4 h). Among these times, 2 h was the optimal incubation time in order to see an effect on the migration. After the incubation time, a Transwell® chemotaxis assay in the presence or absence of the chemokine CCL19 was performed using the same procedure as in *Experiment I*. A summary of the different conditions measured in *Experiment II* is shown in *Figure 10A*.

3.4. Experiment III

Three healthy donors, 1 woman, 2 men (mean \pm SD age: 25 ± 2 years) were additionally recruited for this *plasma* experiment. None of them had a medical history of any chronic disease or mental disorder, and acute illness was excluded by physical examination and routine laboratory investigation. They had a regular sleep/wake pattern, did not take any medications at the time of the experiment (except for oral contraceptives in female participants), and were nonsmokers. All of them gave written informed consent prior to participation in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Tübingen.

On the day of the experiment, freshly sampled WB from the donor participants was sampled at 18:00 h in a Na-Hep S-monovette®. This blood was then incubated with plasma collected from seven participants during the sleep condition or during the wake condition of the *in vivo* experiment (*Experiment I*) to investigate whether the effects of sleep on T-cell migration are mediated by endocrine factors. In order to collect the plasma during the *in vivo* experiment, additional blood was sampled at 02:00 h in BD Vacutainer® heparin tubes (BD Biosciences) and centrifuged at 2,000 g, 4 °C for 10 minutes for isolation of plasma. The plasma was then aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until the day of the experiment.

To study if the CCL19-directed migration was affected by the presence of GH or PRL in the plasma, blood was also incubated with plasma collected in the sleep condition + Human GH Receptor Antibody (1 ug/ml) or plasma collected in the sleep condition + Human PRL Receptor Antibody (400 ng/ml) (both from R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, US). The blood was incubated with the plasma mixtures in a 1:4 dilution for 2 h at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Afterwards, a Transwell® chemotaxis assay was performed using the same procedure as for the *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments (*Figure 10B*). Experiments were performed in duplicates.



Figure 10. Diagram of the Experiment II and Experiment III.

(A) Experiment II: Whole blood (WB) from seven healthy participants was incubated for 2 h with PBS ("control condition"), or sleep-like concentrations of GH or PRL (upper chamber of the Transwell® inserts). Afterwards, spontaneous and CCL19-directed T-cell migration were measured using a Transwell® migration assay and flow cytometry. (**B**) Experiment III: Whole blood from healthy donors was incubated during 2 h with plasma of seven participants of the *in vivo* experiment. The blood was incubated with plasma isolated during the sleep condition (SP), plasma isolated during the wake condition (WP), SP + GH receptor blocker (GH_b) or SP + PRL receptor blocker (PRL_b) (upper chamber of the Transwell® insert). Afterwards, spontaneous and CCL19-directed T-cell migration were measured using a Transwell® insert). Afterwards, spontaneous and CCL19-directed T-cell migration were measured using a Transwell® migration assay and flow cytometry. (Created with BioRender.com.

3.5. Quantification and statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 26 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., US). To examine the influence of sleep on T-cell numbers and migration, linear mixed models (LMM) analyses were applied with "Condition" (wake vs. sleep), "Time" (22:00 h, 02:00 h, 06:00 h, 10:00 h, 14:00 h, 18:00 h, and 20:00 h of the subsequent day), and "Condition x Time" as fixed effects, and "participant" as random effect. All models included the baseline measurement (at 22:00 h) as a covariate. To evaluate the impact of sleep on hormone concentration, comparable LMM with "Condition" (wake vs. sleep), "Time" (22:00 h - 07:00 h, 10:00 h, 14:00 h, 18:00 h, 22:00 h, and 20:00 h of the subsequent day), and "Condition x Time" as fixed effects, "Participant" as random effect, and with the baseline measure as a covariate were performed. Additionally, to investigate the acute effects of sleep on hormone levels, a model categorizing time points into Early (22:00 h-03:00 h) and Late night (04:00 h-07:00 h) was employed. The "Early/late" factor was introduced as the effects of sleep on some of the hormone levels are expected mainly during the early night. For the analyses of Experiment II and Experiment III, paired-samples t-tests tests were applied to analyze differences between conditions. The data was found to follow a normal distribution, as confirmed by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

4. Results

4.1. Effects of sleep on the number of different T-cell subpopulations in blood (Experiment I)

To examine the effects of sleep vs wakefulness on the absolute count of circulating T cells, 14 healthy participants (50% females) spent two 24-hour sessions in the sleep laboratory, separated by at least four weeks. In one condition, participants were allowed to sleep for eight hours at night, while in the other condition, participants spent the 24-hour session continuously awake. Blood was collected every 4 hours within the 24-hour sessions as well as after an additional night at home (serving as a recovery night in the Wake condition). The blood was processed immediately and labeled with the respective antibodies for the determination of the absolute counts of $CD3^+$, $CD4^+$, and $CD8^+$ T-cells, as well as their subsets (i.e., T_N , T_{CM} , T_{EM} , and T_{TE}).

Compared with nocturnal wakefulness, sleep reduced the number of total CD3⁺, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as the counts of all CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell subsets during the night except for the T_{TE4} population (*Figure 11, Table 1*).



Figure 11. Effects of sleep on the absolute counts of circulating T cells.

(A) Estimated marginal means \pm SEM of the number of circulating total CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and (B) their T_N, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, and T_{TE} CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subsets during a regular sleep-wake cycle (red circles) and during continuous wakefulness (yellow circles). Gray area indicates time in bed. n = 14. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between conditions. See Table 1 for overall results of the LMM analyses.T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4}: effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4}: terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8}: effector memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{TE8}: terminally differentiated effector CD8⁺ T cells; LMM: linear mixed model. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

	Main effect of Condition	Main effect of Time	Condition x Time interaction
CD3 ⁺	P = 0.005	P < 0.001	P = 0.027
$CD4^+$	P = 0.008	P < 0.001	P = 0.038
$CD8^+$	P = 0.030	P < 0.001	P = 0.060
T_{N4}	P = 0.032	P < 0.001	P = 0.027
T _{CM4}	P = 0.004	P < 0.001	P > 0.1
T_{EM4}	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P > 0.1
T_{TE4}	P > 0.1	P = 0.008	P > 0.1
T_{N8}	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P > 0.1
T _{CM8}	P = 0.026	P < 0.001	P > 0.1
T_{EM8}	P = 0.003	P < 0.001	P > 0.1
T_{TE8}	P > 0.1	P = 0.002	P = 0.019

 Table 1. Results of LMM analyses for absolute counts of circulating T-cell subsets in the *in vivo* sleep experiment.

P < 0.05 are shown in bold. T_{N4} : naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4} : central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4} : effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4} : terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8} : naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8} : central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8} : effector memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{TE8} : terminally differentiated effector CD8⁺ T cells; LMM: linear mixed model. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

4.2. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration (Experiment I)

To study the effects of sleep on human T-cell migration, blood was collected during both experimental sessions, every 4 hours from 22:00 h (baseline) until 18:00 h of the next day, and at 20.00 h the following day after a recovery sleep night to measure the migration of T cells in the absence (to assess spontaneous migration) or presence of the chemokines CCL19 or CCL5.

4.2.1. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration towards CCL19

Compared to continuous wakefulness, sleep selectively promoted the migratory potential of various T-cell subpopulations. Specifically, sleep increased the directed migration towards the chemokine CCL19 of total CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as T_{N4} and T_{N8} (*Figure 12*, see *Table 2* for results of LMM analyses) with a significant difference during the day after the

experimental night at 10:00 h and at 14:00 h. The effect did not reach significance in T_{CM4} and T_{CM8} subsets. The migration towards CCL19 remained unaffected by the sleep manipulation in T_{EM} and T_{TE} .



Figure 12. Effects of sleep on CCL19-directed migration of various T-cell subsets.

Estimated marginal means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and their T_N, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, and T_{TE} CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subsets in the presence of the chemokine CCL19 during a regular sleep-wake cycle (red circles) and during 24 hours of continuous wakefulness (yellow circles). Gray area indicates time in bed. n = 14. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between conditions. See Table 2 for overall results of the LMM analyses. T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4}: effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4}: terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8}: effector

memory $CD8^+$ T cells; T_{TE8}: terminally differentiated effector $CD8^+$ T cells; LMM: linear mixed model. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

	Spontaneous migration		CCL19-directed migration		CCL5-directed migration				
	Cond. main effect	Time main effect	Cond. x Time inter.	Cond. main effect	Time main effect	Cond. x Time inter.	Cond. main effect	Time main effect	Cond. x Time inter.
CD3 ⁺	P = 0.010	P > 0.1	P = 0.082	P = 0.004	P = 0.001	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.041	P > 0.1
$CD4^+$	P = 0.013	P > 0.1	P = 0.068	P = 0.014	P = 0.012	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.046	P > 0.1
$CD8^+$	P < 0.001	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.015	P < 0.001	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.018	P > 0.1
T _{N4}	P = 0.005	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.015	P = 0.006	P = 0.062	P > 0.1	P = 0.053	P > 0.1
T _{CM4}	P = 0.060	P = 0.067	P > 0.1	P = 0.066	P = 0.052	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1
$T_{\rm EM4}$	P > 0.1	P = 0.087	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.081	P > 0.1
T_{TE4}	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1
T_{N8}	P < 0.001	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.004	P = 0.005	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P = 0.017	P > 0.1
T _{CM8}	P = 0.047	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1
$T_{\rm EM8}$	P > 0.1	P = 0.065	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1
T_{TE8}	P = 0.002	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P > 0.1	P < 0.001	P > 0.1

 Table 2. Results of linear mixed models analyses for spontaneous, CCL19-directed, and CCL5

 directed migration of various T-cell subsets in the *in vivo* sleep experiment.

P < 0.05 are shown in bold. Cond.: Condition; Inter.: Interaction. T_{N4} : naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4} : central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4} : effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4} : terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8} : naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8} : central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8} : effector memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{TE8} : terminally differentiated effector CD8⁺ T cells. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

4.2.2. Effects of sleep on spontaneous T-cell migration

Sleep also increased the spontaneous migration (i.e., the migration in the absence of added chemokines) of total CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells. Again, these differences between conditions were still present even after a full night of recovery sleep. (*Figure 13, Table 2*). Within the eight subpopulations measured (i.e., T_N , T_{CM} , T_{EM} , and T_{TE} CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells), sleep increased the spontaneous migration of T_{N4} , T_{N8} , T_{CM8} , and T_{TE8} . Importantly, for T_{N4} , T_{N8} , and T_{TE8} , the reduction in spontaneous migration after sleep deprivation was still present

even after a night with an 8-hour recovery sleep period, demonstrating the persistent nature of the effect.



Figure 13. Effects of sleep on spontaneous T-cells migration.

Estimated marginal means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and their T_N, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, and T_{TE} CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subsets in the absence of any exogenous chemokine (i.e., spontaneous migration) during a regular sleep-wake cycle (red circles) and during 24 hours of continuous wakefulness (yellow circles). Gray area indicates time in bed. n = 14. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 for pairwise comparisons between conditions. See Table 2 for overall results of the LMM analyses. T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4}: effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4}: terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8}: effector CD8⁺ T cells; LMM: linear mixed model. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

4.2.3. Effects of sleep on T-cell migration towards CCL5

Regarding the migration towards the chemokine CCL5, which promotes lymphocyte infiltration to sites of inflammation, there was no difference between the conditions in any of the T-cell subsets studied (*Figure 14, Table 2*).



Figure 14. Effects of sleep on CCL5-directed migration of various T-cell subsets.

Estimated marginal means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and their T_N, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, and T_{TE} CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subsets in the presence of the chemokine CCL5 during a

regular sleep-wake cycle (red circles) and during 24 hours of continuous wakefulness (yellow circles). Gray area indicates time in bed. n = 14. See Table 1 for overall results of the LMM analyses. T_{N4} : naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4} : central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{EM4} : effector memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{TE4} : terminally differentiated effector CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8} : naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8} : central memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8} : effector memory CD8⁺ T cells; T_{EM8} : model. Adapted from Martinez-Albert et al., 2024.

4.3. Effects of sleep on hormone levels (Experiment I)

To measure levels of the immune-modulating hormones GH, PRL, ALDO, and CORT, blood was collected every hour from 22:00 to 7:00 h, thereafter every 4 hours until 22:00, and again following a night at home.

Levels of PRL and GH were increased in the Sleep condition compared to the Wake condition (p-values PRL: 0.021 and 0.024; p-values GH: 0.093 and 0.020, for the "Condition x Time" and "Condition x Early/late" interaction respectively). ALDO and CORT were not affected by sleep when the LMM factors were defined as "Condition x Time" interaction (ALDO, p-value = 0.563; CORT, p-value = 0.728) nor "Condition x Early/late" interaction (ALDO, p-value = 0.756; CORT, p-value = 0.340) (*Figure 15*).



Figure 15. Effects of sleep on GH, PRL, ALDO, and CORT levels.

Estimated marginal means \pm SEM of GH, PRL, ALDO, and CORT levels during a regular sleep-wake cycle (red circles) versus 24-hours of continuous wakefulness (yellow circles). Gray area indicates time in bed. n = 14. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparison between conditions.

4.4. Effects of sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL on T-cell migration

(Experiment II)

Hormonal changes hallmarking sleep have been considered a candidate mechanism for mediating the effects of sleep on peripheral immune functions (Besedovsky et al., 2019). In subsequent *in vitro* experiments, the effects of GH and PRL were examined as potential endocrine mediators of the sleep effect on T-cell migration, because these hormones were affected by the sleep manipulation in *Experiment I*. We focused on T_N and T_{CM} subsets, which

recirculate through LN and showed robust migration towards CCL19 (see *Figure 12*). GH specifically increased the migration of total CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, as well as T_{N4} and T_{N8} towards CCL19 compared to a PBS control. PRL also promoted T-cell migration towards CCL19 with even broader effects than those of GH, including effects on all the subsets studied (*Figures 16 and 17, Table 3*).



Figure 16. Effects of GH and PRL on CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T-cell migration towards CCL19.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells in the presence of the chemokine CCL19 (CCL19-directed migration) after incubating the cells with GH (dark green) and PRL (light green). Values are indicated as difference from the PBS control. n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between the control and the respective hormone (paired t tests) (see also Table 3).



Figure 17. Effects of GH and PRL on the migration of T_N and T_{CM} subsets of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells towards CCL19.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T_N and T_{CM} in the presence of the chemokine CCL19 (CCL19-directed migration) after incubating the cells with GH (dark green) and PRL (light green). Values are indicated as difference from the PBS control. n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between the control and the respective hormone (paired t tests) (see also Table 3).T_N: naïve T cells; T_{CM}: central memory T cells.

Table 3. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated towards the chemokine CCL19 (mean \pm SEM) after incubation with sleep-like concentrations of GH or PRL compared to their migration when incubating with a PBS control.

	Control	GH	PRL
$CD3^+$	6.68 ± 1.17	8.21 ± 1.28*	10.41 ± 1.01 **
$CD4^+$	7.53 ± 0.97	9.14 ± 0.94 ***	12.67 ± 0.57 ***
$CD8^+$	7.30 ± 1.67	8.05 ± 1.69	$10.03 \pm 1.65 **$
T_{N4}	7.74 ± 1.66	12.14 ± 2.13**	19.32 ± 1.73 ***
T _{CM4}	8.85 ± 1.27	10.65 ± 1.04	12.43 ± 1.03 **
T_{N8}	11.08 ± 1.68	16.65 ± 1.95***	22.29 ± 1.61 ***
Тсм8	4.98 ± 0.80	6.98 ± 1.73	$8.16 \pm 1.24*$

n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between Control and the different hormone conditions (paired t tests). Control = PBS, GH = 10 ng/ml, PRL = 20 μ g/l. T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells.

None of the hormones of interest affected the spontaneous migration of T cells (*Figures 18 and 19, Table 4*).


Figure 18. Effects of GH and PRL on spontaneous migration of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells in the absence of chemoattractants after incubating the cells with GH (dark green) and PRL (light green). Values are indicated as difference from the PBS control. n = 7.





Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T_N and T_{CM} T cells in the absence of chemoattractants after incubating the cells with GH (dark green) and PRL (light green). Values are indicated as difference from the PBS control. n = 7. T_N: naïve T cells; T_{CM}: central memory T cells.

Table 4. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated in the absence of a chemotactic stimulus (spontaneous migration) (mean \pm SEM) after incubation with sleep-like concentrations of GH or PRL compared to their migration when incubating with a PBS control.

	Control	GH	PRL
$CD3^+$	4.52 ± 0.69	4.76 ± 0.45	3.57 ± 0.23
$CD4^+$	5.06 ± 0.82	5.21 ± 0.26	3.87 ± 0.26
$CD8^+$	3.49 ± 0.49	3.91 ± 0.37	2.91 ± 0.25
T_{N4}	4.25 ± 0.97	4.17 ± 0.55	2.53 ± 0.29
T _{CM4}	5.49 ± 0.71	5.38 ± 0.58	4.57 ± 0.39
T_{N8}	3.62 ± 0.84	3.53 ± 0.55	2.53 ± 0.49
T _{CM8}	4.67 ± 0.36	4.94 ± 0.29	4.27 ± 0.23

n = 7. Control = PBS, GH = 10 ng/ml, PRL = 20 μ g/l. T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells.

4.5. Effects of endocrine factors on T-cell migration (Experiment III)

To confirm that the impact of sleep on T-cell migration observed in the *Experiment I* was indeed mediated by endocrine factors, and specifically by GH and PRL, whole blood from healthy donors was incubated with plasma that had been previously collected at 2:00 h during the Sleep and the Wake condition of *Experiment I*. In addition, in separate tubes, blockers of the hormones mentioned above were added to the plasma from the Sleep condition. Whole blood from the donor participants was freshly collected at 18:00 h, when endogenous concentrations of the hormones of interest are low.

Incubation with the plasma derived from the Sleep condition specifically increased the CCL19-directed migration of total CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells (*Figure 20, Table 5*) as well as of all subsets of interest (i.e., T_{N4} , T_{N8} , T_{CM4} , and T_{CM8}) (*Figure 21, Table 5*) when compared with plasma derived from the Wake condition. Adding antagonists of GH and PRL to the "sleep plasma" significantly decreased the migration towards CCL19 compared to incubation with the sleep plasma without antagonists in total CD3⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺ T cells, T_{N4} , and T_{N8} .



Figure 20. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor blockers on the migration of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells towards CCL19.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells in the presence of the chemokine CCL19 after incubation with plasma from sleeping participants ("sleep plasma", SP, red bars), from awake participants ("wake plasma", WP, yellow bars), sleep plasma plus a growth hormone receptor blocker (SP+GH_b, dark green bars), or sleep plasma plus a prolactin receptor blocker (SP+PRL_b, light green bars). n = 7. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between conditions (paired t tests).



Figure 21. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor blockers on the migration of T_N and T_{CM} subsets of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells towards CCL19.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T_N and T_{CM} cells in the presence of the chemokine CCL19 after incubation with plasma from sleeping participants ("sleep plasma", SP, red bars), from awake participants ("wake plasma", WP, yellow bars), sleep plasma plus a growth hormone receptor blocker (SP+GH_b, dark green bars), or sleep plasma plus a prolactin receptor blocker (SP+PRL_b, light green bars). n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between conditions (paired t tests). T_N: naïve T cells; T_{CM}: central memory T cells.

Table 5. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated towards the chemokine CCL19 (mean \pm SEM) after incubation with plasma obtained during the Sleep condition (SP), plasma obtained during the Wake condition (WP), and "sleep plasma" plus hormone receptor blockers.

	SLEEP plasma	WAKE plasma	$SP + GH_b$	$SP + PRL_b$
$CD3^+$	9.91 ± 1.28	2.06 ± 0.25 ***	5.81 ± 1.11**	4.14 ± 0.68 **
$CD4^+$	10.09 ± 2.04	$1.99\pm0.44^{\boldsymbol{**}}$	4.12 ± 1.29 **	2.67 ± 0.83 **
$CD8^+$	8.43 ± 0.71	1.66 ± 0.21 ***	$4.94\pm0.87^{\boldsymbol{**}}$	3.34 ± 0.51 ***
T_{N4}	11.00 ± 1.96	$1.33\pm0.16^{\boldsymbol{**}}$	$6.17 \pm 1.36 \texttt{*}$	4.51 ± 1.01 **
T_{CM4}	9.69 ± 1.63	$3.08\pm0.61^{\boldsymbol{\ast\ast}}$	7.64 ± 1.85	6.44 ± 1.75
$T_{\rm N8}$	13.51 ± 2.46	$3.01 \pm 0.58 **$	$7.87 \pm 2.42^{**}$	5.20 ± 1.11 **
T _{CM8}	6.87 ± 1.00	$2.25 \pm 0.36^{***}$	5.95 ± 1.66	4.71 ± 1.14

n = 7. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 for pairwise comparisons between "Sleep plasma" and other conditions (paired t tests). SP = Sleep plasma; GH_b = Growth hormone blocker, PRL_b = prolactin blocker. T_{N4}: naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4}: central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8}: naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8}: central memory CD8⁺ T cells.

In contrast to the CCL19-directed migration, incubation of the cells with the plasma from sleeping participants did not affect the spontaneous migration in any of the T-cell subsets studied (*Figures 22* and *23, Table 6*).



Figure 22. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor blockers on the spontaneous migration of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells in the absence of chemoattractants after incubation with plasma from sleeping participants ("sleep plasma", SP, red bars), from awake participants ("wake plasma", WP, yellow bars), sleep plasma plus a growth hormone receptor blocker (SP+GH_b, dark green bars), or sleep plasma plus a prolactin receptor blocker (SP+PRL_b, light green bars). n = 7.



Figure 23. Effects of plasma collected during sleep vs. wakefulness and of hormone receptor blockers on the spontaneous migration of T_N and T_{CM} subsets of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells.

Means \pm SEM of the percentage of migrated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T_N and T_{CM} T cells in the absence of chemoattractants after incubation with plasma from sleeping participants ("sleep plasma", SP, red bars), from awake participants ("wake plasma", WP, yellow bars), sleep plasma plus a growth hormone receptor blocker (SP+GH_b, dark green bars), or sleep plasma plus a prolactin receptor blocker (SP+PRL_b, light green bars). n = 7. T_N: naïve T cells; T_{CM}: central memory T cells.

Table 6. Percentage of different T-cell subpopulations migrated in the absence of a chemotactic stimulus (spontaneous migration) (mean \pm SEM) after incubation with plasma obtained during the Sleep condition (SP), plasma obtained during the Wake condition (WP), and "sleep plasma" plus hormone receptor blockers.

	SLEEP plasma	WAKE plasma	$SP + GH_b$	$SP + PRL_b$
$CD3^+$	2.20 ± 0.28	1.93 ± 0.34	1.87 ± 0.28	1.89 ± 0.11
$CD4^+$	1.67 ± 0.40	1.82 ± 0.33	1.66 ± 0.44	1.63 ± 0.38
$CD8^+$	2.23 ± 0.29	1.84 ± 0.40	1.73 ± 0.47	1.82 ± 0.43
T_{N4}	1.53 ± 0.24	1.61 ± 0.39	1.45 ± 0.34	1.41 ± 0.29
T _{CM4}	2.22 ± 0.59	2.21 ± 0.57	2.08 ± 0.59	2.07 ± 0.52
T_{N8}	1.48 ± 0.36	1.49 ± 0.38	1.51 ± 0.42	1.49 ± 0.35
T _{CM8}	2.16 ± 0.17	1.97 ± 0.32	1.96 ± 0.34	2.11 ± 0.35

SP = Sleep plasma; GH_b = Growth hormone blocker, PRL_b = prolactin blocker. T_{N4} : naïve CD4⁺ T cells; T_{CM4} : central memory CD4⁺ T cells; T_{N8} : naïve CD8⁺ T cells; T_{CM8} : central memory CD8⁺ T cells.

5. Discussion

5. Discussion

For several decades, numerous studies have focused on the intricate relationship between sleep and immunity. Research conducted during this period has provided substantial evidence that disruptions in sleep can have significant effects on the adaptive immune system, such as reduced responses to vaccination, altered immune cell function, and altered inflammatory signaling, potentially impacting the body's vulnerability to infectious diseases (Garbarino et al., 2021; Ibarra-Coronado et al., 2015; Irwin, 2023; Schmitz et al., 2022). The scientific community dedicated to sleep research has increasingly focused on identifying the underlying biological mechanisms driving these effects. Despite these efforts, our comprehension of the dynamic interplay between sleep and immunity remains incomplete.

Several studies found that sleep compared to nocturnal wakefulness reduces the number of T cells in blood, with the cells potentially relocating to LNs where they encounter foreign antigens, triggering adaptive immune reactions (Lange et al., 2022). However, the exact destination of the cells as well as how these effects are mediated are still unknown. To answer these questions, experiments with healthy human participants were performed in the context of this thesis. In these experiments, each participant was exposed to a regular sleep-wake cycle in one condition and to 24 hours of wakefulness in another condition to investigate the role of sleep in the migration of T cells towards the LN-homing chemokine CCL19. Furthermore, consecutive experiments were carried out in which human T cells were incubated with GH and PRL, before measuring their migration towards CCL19, in order to decipher whether the sleep effect on T-cell migration was indeed mediated by the levels of GH and PRL that are characteristic of sleep.

79

Sleep compared to nocturnal wakefulness specifically promoted the migration of various T-cell subsets towards the chemokine CCL19, which is essential for LN homing and, thus, for the initiation and maintenance of adaptive immune responses. The CCL19-directed migration of several T-cell populations was affected by sleep, especially CD3⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺, N₄ and N₈ T cells. Other groups have seen similar results in animals, where sleep-deprived mice presented a decreased expression of the genes *CCL19*, *CCR7*, and *CD62L*, crucial for immune cell homing, and lower lymphocyte counts in LNs (Ruiz et al., 2017; Tune et al., 2020). Sleep also increased the migration towards CCL19 of T_{CM4} and T_{CM8} populations, however without reaching statistical significance. This could be explained by the lower expression of CCR7 that these subsets present in comparison to naïve populations (Besedovsky et al., 2014). Finally, sleep did not affect the CCL19-directed migration in T_{EM} and T_{TE} subsets, which typically exhibit limited migration to LNs (Mahnke et al., 2013). Together, these findings suggest a role of sleep in promoting the migration of T cells to LNs.

Changes in hormonal activity during sleep have been proposed as a potential factor influencing peripheral immune functions (Besedovsky et al., 2019; Rolls et al., 2015). In *Experiment I*, GH and PRL were shown to be released in a strongly sleep-dependent manner, as demonstrated in previous studies (Besedovsky et al., 2012; Lange et al., 2010). The lack of effect of sleep on ALDO levels is in contrast with previous studies (Charloux et al., 2001; Charloux et al., 1999) and is likely due to the lower sampling rate in *Experiment I* compared to the previous studies. GH and PRL serve as pro-inflammatory signals, facilitating immune cell activation, proliferation, differentiation, and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Haus, 2007; Kelley et al., 2007), thereby aiding the initiation of adaptive immune responses. In *Experiment II*, it was demonstrated that sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL additionally promoted CCL19-directed migration. The effect of PRL was observed in all the T-

cell subsets studied. Notably, the impact of PRL on LN-homing had not been recognized previously, except in one animal study where PRL treatment increased CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells in axillary and inguinal mammary gland-draining LNs (Dill & Walker, 2017). These findings unveil an acute effect of physiological PRL levels on the homing potential of T cells to LNs, revealing a new role of PRL in promoting adaptive immune responses in humans. Sleep-like concentrations of GH enhanced the CCL19 directed-migration on all the subsets studied except for total CD8⁺ T cells and T_{CM}. GH effects on T-cell migration have been widely studied in animals. *In vivo* experiments showed that GH favors the trafficking of naïve CD4⁺ T cells to peripheral LNs in mice treated with GH intrathymically, and that GH-transgenic mice exhibit higher numbers of T lymphocytes in LNs as compared to wild-type controls (Smaniotto et al., 2004). The results of this thesis significantly expand these animal experiments by demonstrating that physiological, sleep-like concentrations of GH rapidly enhance the LN homing potential of human T cells and their T_N subsets.

The results of *Experiment III* demonstrate that the promoting effects of sleep on CCL19directed T-cell migration can be mimicked *ex vivo* by a short-term incubation of T cells with plasma collected from sleeping participants. The effect of the plasma collected from the sleeping participants was reduced after addition of GH and PRL antagonists, suggesting that these two hormones mediated the sleep effects. Taken together, these series of experiments suggest that the effects of sleep on T-cell migration towards CCL19 were mediated by GH and PRL (*Figure 24*).



Figure 24. Sleep enhances CCL19-directed T-cell migration via GH and PRL signaling.

(A) Concept: Sleep promotes the migration of T_N and T_{CM} towards CCL19, an essential LN-homing chemokine. The receptor of this chemokine, CCR7 is highly expressed on these T-cell subsets. Nocturnal sleep is characterized by a specific hormonal milieu consisting of high levels of GH and PRL. These hormones act as mediators of the effects of sleep on T-cell migration. (B) *In vitro*, sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL enhanced the migration of T cells towards CCL19. (C) Plasma from sleeping participants promoted CCL19-directed T-cell migration compared to incubation of the cells with plasma from awake participants. The effect depended on GH and PRL as adding antagonists of these hormones diminished the effect.

These findings lay the groundwork for forthcoming investigations into the molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of sleep on T-cell migration. One interesting molecule could be With-no-lysine kinase 1 (WNK1). Cell migration is a complex phenomenon characterized by cellular polarization, necessitating the dynamic regulation of receptors and adhesion molecules. Additionally, it involves the coordinated generation and degradation of gradients of second messengers to facilitate the process effectively (Sánchez-Madrid & del Pozo, 1999). In particular, the migration of T cells induced by chemokines is distinguished by the polarization of the cell, resulting in the formation of a pseudopodium at the forefront of the moving cell. Within this structure, there exists a densely packed and remarkably dynamic network of branched actin filaments, which plays a vital role in facilitating the migration process (Dupré et al., 2015). This mechanism is in part controlled by cation-chloride cotransporters (CCCs). CCCs regulate intracellular chloride (Cl⁻) concentrations in two manners: promoting the entrance of Na⁺, K⁺, and Cl⁻ ions (through Na-K-Cl or Na-Cl cotransporters, NKCCs or NCCs, respectively) or the exit of K^+ and Cl^- ions (through K-Cl cotransporters, KCCs) (Bhandage & Barragan, 2021). WNK1 is a serine-threonine kinase that phosphorylates KCC to inhibit its activity (Mercado et al., 2016), as well as NKCC and NCC to enhance their activity (Anselmo et al., 2006; Chávez-Canales et al., 2014), promoting the uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ ions (Shekarabi et al., 2017). This results in ion and water influx, which is required for actin polymerization and T-cell migration (Boer et al., 2022). Recent research has shown that WNK1 is also expressed in T cells and is required for the homing of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells to LNs via CCR7 signaling (Köchl et al., 2016). Furthermore, it has been reported that WNK1 expression in the rat dorsal raphe neurons is higher during sleep than during wakefulness (Kim et al., 2018). Given the extensive cross-talk between the neural and the immune system, it could be possible that sleep also increases the expression of WNK1 in human T cells, leading to an accumulation of Na⁺, K⁺, and Cl⁻ ions necessary for cell actin polymerization and migration.

Moreover, WNK1 is also related to GH and PRL. Similarly than with GH, sleep deprivation decreases blood levels of IGF-1 (Chennaoui et al., 2014), the principal mediator of GH which plays a crucial role in promoting cell growth and differentiation (Laron, 2001). It has

been shown that IGF-1 induces phosphorylation of WNK1, enhancing its activity (Cheng & Huang, 2011; Vitari et al., 2004). Additionally, rats treated with GH showed an increase in the phosphorylation of the co-transporter NKCC, one of the targets of WNK1 (Dimke et al., 2007). Likewise, PRL treatment in rats induced increased phosphorylation of the co-transporter NCC, another target of WNK1 (Rojas-Vega et al., 2015). Unfortunately, none of these studies measured the phosphorylation of WNK1. Future studies are required to clearly elucidate the exact mechanisms that promote the enhanced T-cell migration caused by sleep, whether sleep directly affects the expression of WNK1 and its function, whether sleep-like concentrations of GH and PRL increase phosphorylation of WNK1 and/or its targets, or both.

In contrast to CCL19-directed migration, the migration towards CCL5 remained unaffected by sleep in all the subsets studied. While CCL19 regulates migration to and within LN, CCL5 attracts T cells to sites of inflammation. The migration towards CCL5 was measured to investigate whether the impact of sleep on T-cell migration is specific to CCL19 or extends to chemokines in general. It has been shown that the chemotactic response to CCL5 varies among the different lymphocyte subsets (Stanford & Issekutz, 2003). Whereas human T cells with memory phenotype respond better to this inflammatory chemokine (Oppermann, 2004), naïve T-cells' transendothelial migration is less affected by the presence of CCL5 (Ding et al., 2000). The receptors for CCL5 (CCR1, CCR3, CCR4, and CCR5) are expressed across naïve, memory, and effector T cells, although not all receptors are uniformly expressed within each of these populations. CCL5 exhibits the highest affinity for CCR5 (Aldinucci et al., 2020) which is present on memory and effector T cells, but not on naïve T cells (Fukada et al., 2002; Qin et al., 1998; Sallusto et al., 1997). In contrast to CCR5 and CCR3, CCR1 and CCR4 are expressed on both naïve and memory T cells (Rabin et al., 1999; Song et al., 2005). This different expressions might explain why the directed migration towards CCL5, although observed in all

studied T-cell populations, was less pronounced in T_N cells, which only express the receptor with lower CCL5 affinity.

Previous studies examining the role of sleep in CCL5 signaling focused on the chemokine concentration. In a recent study, a decrease in *CCL5* expression and in protein abundance as well as a downregulation of CCR5, one of the receptors of CCL5, has been shown in mice lung transcripts after 6 h of sleep deprivation, (Taylor et al., 2023). In humans, individuals with chronic insomnia disorder presented lower CCL5 levels in serum compared to good sleepers (Xia et al., 2021). Monocytes from patients with severe obstructive sleep apnea displayed a higher migration towards CCL5 measured with a Transwell® assay when the cells were incubated under hypoxia conditions compared to normoxia (Chuang et al., 2019). In certain diseases, the receptors for CCL5 are up-regulated, rendering T cells more responsive to CCL5 (Jo et al., 2003; Schaller et al., 2008; Wakugawa et al., 2001). However, an up-regulation of these receptors was not expected in our study sample.

In *Experiment I*, it was shown than sleep also enhanced the spontaneous migration (i.e., migration of the cells in the absence of a chemokine) of several T-cell populations. Spontaneous migration can arise due to various factors, including cell motility, interactions with the extracellular matrix, and intrinsic cellular processes (Gu & Rajewsky, 2008). This inherent migratory pattern enables T cells to explore a wide area in what may appear to be a disorderly manner (Miller et al., 2003; Textor et al., 2011). The primary purpose of T-cell motility is to search for their cognate peptide presented by APCs. However, the occurrence of these cognate APC within the pool of presenting cells is extremely rare, and there are no external cues available to assist the T cell in locating them (Krummel et al., 2016). One possible physiological significance of the effect of sleep on spontaneous T-cell migration could be to enhance the

likelihood to encounter their cognate antigens, since this is one of the purposes of the random walk pattern migration of T cells (Miller et al., 2003). The incubation of T cells with GH, PRL, or plasma from sleeping individuals did not affect spontaneous migration. This suggests that factors mediating the effects of sleep on spontaneous T-cell migration might not be present in the plasma.

It is important to mention that the effect of sleep on spontaneous and CCL19-directed migration of T cells persisted after a night of recovery sleep demonstrating the persistent nature of the effect. Other studies have shown that a single night of recovery sleep frequently fails to restore immune parameters alterations induced by short-term sleep deprivation (Besedovsky et al., 2019).

As demonstrated in prior research (Besedovsky et al., 2016; Born et al., 1997), the reducing effect of sleep on the number of circulating T cells becomes evident early in the night (i.e., at 2:00 h). Initially, this appears contradictory to the observed effects of sleep on the T-cell migratory potential, which appeared to emerge with some delay. However, this inconsistency in timing likely arises because sleep, by promptly enhancing T-cell extravasation during the night, leaves only those T cells in the circulation (and for these analyses) with diminished migratory potential. Consequently, this effect tends to obscure the true extent of the effect of sleep versus wakefulness on the migration potential at night. This explanation is supported by the earlier mentioned finding that incubation of T cells (collected at 18:00 h) with plasma obtained as early as 2:00 h at night from sleeping participants indeed facilitated T-cell migration.

86

6. Outlook and conclusion

6.1. Outlook

The work described in this thesis contributes to understand the complex relationship between sleep and the immune system, demonstrating that sleep selectively promotes the LN homing potential of T cells by increasing GH and PRL levels, thus revealing a fundamental mechanism underlying the supporting effect of sleep on adaptive immunity.

While the experiments carried out in the context of this thesis were not specifically designed to differentiate between effects of sleep manipulation on females versus males, future investigations could consider sex differences. In this thesis, the experiments were conducted during the same phase of the menstrual cycle in females to mitigate variability in sex hormones but lacked the statistical power to specifically investigate sex differences. For this reason, future studies should be designed to specifically examine sex differences in the influence of sleep on immune cell migration.

Additionally, the mechanisms underlying the observed changed in T-cell migration warrant further investigation. Future studies could delve deeper into the molecular pathways involved in mediating the effects of sleep on immune cell trafficking, potentially identifying novel therapeutic targets for immune-related disorders. One of these potential targets could be the molecule WNK1, which has been associated with T-cell migration via CCL19 and sleep (see *Discussion* section). Another possible molecular target mediating this effect could be CCR7, the receptor for CCL19 expressed on T cells, because the effects of sleep were specific to CCL19.

Furthermore, the experimental design used in the context of this thesis employed 24hours of continuous wakefulness. This study design is useful to investigate the active role of sleep for the immune system compared with a condition without sleep. Nevertheless, this type of sleep deprivation is not totally comparable to the more chronic forms of sleep deficiency occurring in the general population. Thus, future studies investigating how more prolonged and partial sleep deprivation affects T-cell migration are necessary.

Finally, translating these finding into clinical practice holds promise for improving patient outcomes. Investigating the efficacy of interventions aimed at improving sleep quality in individuals with compromised immune function could have significant implications for public health.

6.2. Conclusion

While the hypothesis that sleep enhances T-cell migration to LN has persisted for over two decades (Born et al., 1997), evidence supporting this concept in humans has been lacking so far. Collectively, the experiments conducted in this thesis provide compelling evidence that sleep specifically enhances the LN homing capacity of T cells by elevating levels of GH and PRL, thereby uncovering a fundamental mechanism underlying the supportive role of sleep in adaptive immunity. Furthermore, there are recent advances in knowledge regarding the impact of the CCL19-CCR7 axis on host immune responses (Yan et al., 2019). It has been shown that during some infections, CCR7 expression on T cells is decreased and, therefore, the cells present a less efficient chemotactic response to CCL19 (Kim et al., 2016; Potsch et al., 1999). Knowing that sleep specifically enhances the migration of T cells towards CCL19, something as "simple" as having sufficient sleep during an infection could promote the migration of T cells to LNs, an essential step for effective immune defense, resulting thus in a less severe presentation of the disease.

Findings uncovering acute effects of GH and PRL in physiological concentrations on CCL19-directed T-cell migration also have potential clinical implications. Thus, these

hormones could be considered as novel adjuvants for enhancing immune responses postvaccination, especially in older individuals, who typically exhibit reduced levels of these hormones (Van den Berghe et al., 1998), along with impairments in sleep (Gulia & Kumar, 2018; Li et al., 2018), and vaccine-driven immune responses (Hainz et al., 2005; Murasko et al., 2002).

7. Summary

7. Summary

Sleep is a fundamental aspect of human life, occupying approximately one-third of our time. Its importance in maintaining overall health and well-being is widely recognized, including its role in regulating the immune system. Experimental studies demonstrate that individuals who sleep after vaccination exhibit significantly enhanced antigen-specific antibody and T-cell responses compared to those who remain awake, emphasizing the impact of sleep on immune defense mechanisms. The mechanisms behind this effect of sleep are still unclear. Based on the consistent finding that sleep reduces T-cell numbers in the bloodstream, one hypothesis is that sleep fosters T-cell migration to lymph nodes (LNs), where immune responses are coordinated. The effects of sleep on the endocrine system may mediate the impact of sleep on immune functions. During sleep, hormonal changes occur, with high growth hormone (GH) and prolactin (PRL) levels promoting a pro-inflammatory environment conducive to immune activation and response. This dissertation aimed to investigate the role of sleep in T-cell migration to LNs, which is crucial for adaptive immune responses. The experiments conducted within the scope of this dissertation sought to measure the migration of several T-cell subsets during normal sleep and nocturnal wakefulness, focusing on the LN-homing chemokine CCL19. Additionally, a second aim was to understand the role of the sleep-regulated hormones GH and PRL in potentially mediating the effects of sleep on T-cell migration by conducting experiments employing hormone concentrations comparable to those occurring under sleep conditions. It was hypothesized that sleep induces stronger T-cell migration towards CCL19 mediated by the sleep-related hormones GH and PRL.

To explore the effect of sleep on T-cell migration, three experiments were conducted within the context of this thesis. In *Experiment I*, participants underwent two 24-hour sessions in a sleep laboratory, with one session involving uninterrupted sleep and the other continuous wakefulness. Blood samples were collected regularly to assess T-cell counts and migration

90

patterns. Sleep was found to decrease the total number of circulating T cells and several subsets. Sleep also selectively enhanced the migration of various T-cell subsets towards the LN-homing chemokine CCL19, without affecting migration towards CCL5, a chemokine involved in inflammation. *Experiment II* explored the influence of the sleep-associated hormones GH and PRL on T-cell migration, revealing that GH and PRL increased migration towards CCL19. *Experiment III* confirmed that plasma from sleeping individuals enhanced T-cell migration towards CCL19, and this effect was mitigated by blockers of GH and PRL. These findings suggest a role for GH and PRL in mediating the effects of sleep on T-cell behavior.

Future research may delve into molecular pathways involved in these sleep effects, potentially identifying therapeutic targets for immune-related disorders. Translating these findings into clinical practice could lead to interventions aimed at improving sleep quality in individuals with compromised immune function, possibly improving patient outcomes and enhancing immune responses, particularly post-vaccination.

8. Acknowledgements

8. Acknowledgements

Here I am, writing one of the most important chapters of this thesis with some happy tears in my eyes. It has not been easy to keep this section short because I am very lucky to have a large support net to thank for accompanying me alongside. This work would not have been possible without the help and support of all the following people.

First and foremost, I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Prof. Luciana Besedovsky, for her exceptional guidance, support, and invaluable mentorship throughout this research journey. Luci, thank you for your encouragement and belief in my potential. Your constructive feedback and patience have challenged me to think critically. You have demonstrated to me the importance of integrity, perseverance, and passion in academia. I am truly thankful for your guidance and your contribution to my growth as a researcher.

I would also like to extend my thanks to Prof. Jan Born for his support and input throughout the duration of my PhD. Your perspective provided additional layers of understanding and contributed to the overall development of my thesis. I am grateful for your willingness to offer assistance when needed and for your role in shaping my academic journey.

In addition, I would like to mention Dr. Stoyan Dimitrov. Your insightful perspectives, expertise, and willingness to share your knowledge and help me whenever I needed it, have greatly enriched the quality of my work and the time spent in the laboratory. Whether it was troubleshooting challenges, assistance with experiments, sharing resources to learn German, or food from our home countries, you have been not only a colleague but a friend. Thank you.

I am incredibly lucky to have coincided with two colleagues who have become the best friends I could have asked for. Mapi and Julia, I am immensely grateful for your friendship and all the memories we have created together. You have offered laughter, solidarity, and understanding during both the highs and lows of the PhD. Nobody knows where we will end up, but what I know is that our bonding is stronger than thousands of kilometers. Thank you for being always ready for a hug, a long walk, or a bottle of wine. I will miss you. "Baia tela" chicas, we made it.

I want to give my deepest appreciation to all the colleagues and friends who have coincided with me in Tübingen as well as in Munich. Carlos, Niels, and Anuck, thanks for being the best office companion I could have asked for, "the jungle". The time spent not only working together but sharing experiences, frustrations, happy news, advice, and glasses of whatever we found to toast, have made the challenges more bearable and the successes more meaningful. Ilona and Anja, thank you for being always willing to help me with bureaucratic, professional, and personal matters. Manfred, thank you for your invaluable advice, but most important, thank you for approaching to me always with a smile and kindness. Marjan, my dearest kochoulo, I remember the time we spent together with special fondness, and I really miss you. Ernesto, Jian Feng, Shan, Julia, Max, thanks for your encouragement, understanding, and moral support during this journey. I proudly carry a piece of all of you with me.

This work wouldn't have been possible without the invaluable support from my parents. Mami, Papi, thank you for your unconditional love, for being always with me despite the distance. I remember when I told you that I wanted to come to Germany to do a PhD, you were always by my side supporting my decisions and believing in me. I will always be grateful for all the opportunities you have allowed me to have. It is easy to follow my own path when I know that I can always go back to you if something does not go as planned, if I need a break of reality, a hug, or a homemade paella. Tata, this acknowledgment extends also to you. Thank you for taking care of me whenever I needed to. Thank you for giving me the courage to pursue my dreams and "being" with me all the way through. You, David, and Luc are part of my comfort zone, and I am immensely grateful for being your sister. Little Luc, you still do not know it, but you always make me smile when you show me your Pokémon collection or explain to me what have you learnt on school. Being far from all of you is one of the hardest things I have ever done, but I know that you are by my side no matter the distance. Os quiero.

Adrián, mi guapi, my person, there is not enough space to express how grateful I am for all your support. Your patience, advice, and belief in me have sustained me through the highs and lows, providing solace during moments of doubt and sadness, and celebrating alongside me during moments of triumph. Your understanding and support have been my greatest source of strength, accompanying me along every step of this journey. Thank you for reminding me that true success is not measured solely by academic achievements, but by the richness of the relationships we nurture along the way. Thank you, from the bottom of my heart, for being my constant companion, confidant, and source of boundless love and support. You believed in me even before I did. Thank you for making me feel safe no matter what happens. I know that as long as you are by my side, I will always be at home. Te quiero infinito mundial.

My little four-legged baby also deserves some lines in this thesis. Maya, mi patita, you are one of the sources of unconditional love and immeasurable comfort in my life. You remind me of the importance of balance, play, and simple moments of happiness. Your loyal companionship has accompanied me through countless late-night writing sessions, days of sleeping after sleep-deprived nights, and long walks in the forest after moments of frustration. Thanks for enriching my life in ways I never thought possible and keeping me sane.

I am incredibly fortunate to have gained not just a partner, but a loving and welcoming in-law family who embraced me as one of their own from the very beginning. Lupita, Helio, Diego, and Luiz, thank you for treating me with warmth, acceptance, love, and genuine hospitality. You make me feel cherished and valued, with a sense of belonging that I hold dear.

Last but not least, I am immensely grateful for the diverse tapestry of friendships that have enriched my life, both near and far. To my friends scattered across different corners of the world, I hold your presence in my heart with profound gratitude. Despite the distance, your support, laughter, shared memories, and video calls have bridged the gap and strengthened our friendship. Clara, Marta, Andrea, Ari, Raquel, Kika, Jor, thank you for listening to my neverending WhatsApp audios and giving me always a new perspective and advice. Equally, I am blessed to have friends who I met in Germany, who have become more than just companions but members of my extended family. Óscar genauso, Marta, Sofía, Diego, Vanesa, Tere, Hanot, María, Constantin, and Meike, we have shared experiences, laughter, and challenges. Your presence brings warmth and joy to my daily life, filling it with moments of belonging. Luisa and Ana, thank you for your right advice and always looking at life from a feminist point of view (how else, right?). Katie, Sonja, Eleonora, Shareen, and Saerom, even though we are the busiest people ever and it is not possible to gather as much as we would like, I am grateful for the genuine friendship and support you have shown me since we crossed paths.

To all those who have contributed in one way or another, whether mentioned here or not, I am sincerely grateful for your support and encouragement throughout this endeavor. I am deeply thankful for your love, your laughter, and the indelible mark you have left on my life. I am forever grateful for your presence.

9. References

- Abbas, A., Lichtman, A., & Pillai, S. (2021). *Cellular and Molecular Immunology* (Elsevier Ed. 10th ed.): Elsevier.
- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., & Lewis, J. (2002). Lymphocytes and the Cellular Basis of Adaptive Immunity. In G. Science (Ed.), *Molecular Biology of the Cell*.
- Aldinucci, D., Borghese, C., & Casagrande, N. (2020). The CCL5/CCR5 Axis in Cancer Progression. *Cancers (Basel)*, *12*(7). doi:10.3390/cancers12071765
- Ames, M. K., Atkins, C. E., & Pitt, B. (2019). The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and its suppression. *J Vet Intern Med*, 33(2), 363-382. doi:10.1111/jvim.15454
- Anselmo, A. N., Earnest, S., Chen, W., Juang, Y. C., Kim, S. C., Zhao, Y., & Cobb, M. H. (2006). WNK1 and OSR1 regulate the Na+, K+, 2Cl- cotransporter in HeLa cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(29), 10883-10888. doi:10.1073/pnas.0604607103
- Antony, J. W., Schönauer, M., Staresina, B. P., & Cairney, S. A. (2019). Sleep Spindles and Memory Reprocessing. *Trends Neurosci, 42*(1), 1-3. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2018.09.012
- Bardi, G., Lipp, M., Baggiolini, M., & Loetscher, P. (2001). The T cell chemokine receptor CCR7 is internalized on stimulation with ELC, but not with SLC. *European Journal of Immunology*, 31(11), 3291-3297. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200111)31:11<3291::aidimmu3291>3.0.co;2-z
- Basu, D., & Kulkarni, R. (2014). Overview of blood components and their preparation. *Indian J Anaesth*, 58(5), 529-537. doi:10.4103/0019-5049.144647
- Berry, R. B. (2012). Sleep Stages and Basic Sleep Monitoring. In E. Saunders (Ed.), *Fundamentals of Sleep Medicine*.
- Besedovsky, L., Dimitrov, S., Born, J., & Lange, T. (2016). Nocturnal sleep uniformly reduces numbers of different T-cell subsets in the blood of healthy men. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 311*(4), R637-R642. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00149.2016
- Besedovsky, L., Lange, T., & Born, J. (2012). Sleep and immune function. *Pflugers Arch,* 463(1), 121-137. doi:10.1007/s00424-011-1044-0

- Besedovsky, L., Lange, T., & Haack, M. (2019). The Sleep-Immune Crosstalk in Health and Disease. *Physiol Rev, 99*(3), 1325-1380. doi:10.1152/physrev.00010.2018
- Besedovsky, L., Linz, B., Born, J., & Lange, T. (2014). Mineralocorticoid receptor signaling reduces numbers of circulating human naïve T cells and increases their CD62L, CCR7, and CXCR4 expression. *Eur J Immunol*, 44(6), 1759-1769. doi:10.1002/eji.201344265
- Besedovsky, L., Ngo, H.-V. V., Dimitrov, S., Gassenmaier, C., Lehmann, R., & Born, J. (2017).
 Auditory closed-loop stimulation of EEG slow oscillations strengthens sleep and signs of its immune-supportive function. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1984. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02170-3
- Bhandage, A. K., & Barragan, A. (2021). GABAergic signaling by cells of the immune system: more the rule than the exception. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 78(15), 5667-5679. doi:10.1007/s00018-021-03881-z
- Boehm, T., Hess, I., & Swann, J. B. (2012). Evolution of lymphoid tissues. *Trends in Immunology*, 33(6), 315-321. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.02.005
- Boer, L. L. d., Melgrati, S., Vanes, L., O'May, J. B., Hayward, D., Köchl, R., & Tybulewicz,
 V. L. J. (2022). T cell migration requires ion and water influx to regulate actin polymerization. *bioRxiv*, 2022.2003.2016.484584. doi:10.1101/2022.03.16.484584
- Born, J., Lange, T., Hansen, K., Mölle, M., & Fehm, H. L. (1997). Effects of sleep and circadian rhythm on human circulating immune cells. *J Immunol*, *158*(9), 4454-4464.
- Boyden, S. (1962). The chemotactic effect of mixtures of antibody and antigen on polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *115*(3), 453-466.
- Butcher, E. C. (1991). Leukocyte-endothelial cell recognition: Three (or more) steps to specificity and diversity. *Cell*, 67(6), 1033-1036. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90279-8
- Butcher, E. C., & Picker, L. J. (1996). Lymphocyte Homing and Homeostasis. *Science*, 272(5258), 60-67. doi:doi:10.1126/science.272.5258.60
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., 3rd, Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res*, 28(2), 193-213. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Carlos, T. M., & Harlan, J. M. (1994). Leukocyte-endothelial adhesion molecules. *Blood*, *84*(7), 2068-2101. doi:10.1182/blood.V84.7.2068.2068

- Charloux, A., Gronfier, C., Chapotot, F., Ehrhart, J., Piquard, F., & Brandenberger, G. (2001).
 Sleep deprivation blunts the night time increase in aldosterone release in humans. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 10(1), 27-33. doi:https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2869.2001.00235.x
- Charloux, A., Gronfier, C., Lonsdorfer-Wolf, E., Piquard, F., & Brandenberger, G. (1999).
 Aldosterone release during the sleep-wake cycle in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 276(1), E43-E49. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1999.276.1.E43
- Charmandari, E., Tsigos, C., & Chrousos, G. (2005). ENDOCRINOLOGY OF THE STRESS RESPONSE. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 67(1), 259-284. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.67.040403.120816
- Chávez-Canales, M., Zhang, C., Soukaseum, C., Moreno, E., Pacheco-Alvarez, D., Vidal-Petiot, E., Castañeda-Bueno, M., Vázquez, N., Rojas-Vega, L., Meermeier, N. P., Rogers, S., Jeunemaitre, X., Yang, C. L., Ellison, D. H., Gamba, G., & Hadchouel, J. (2014). WNK-SPAK-NCC cascade revisited: WNK1 stimulates the activity of the Na-Cl cotransporter via SPAK, an effect antagonized by WNK4. *Hypertension*, *64*(5), 1047-1053. doi:10.1161/hypertensionaha.114.04036
- Cheng, C. J., & Huang, C. L. (2011). Activation of PI3-kinase stimulates endocytosis of ROMK via Akt1/SGK1-dependent phosphorylation of WNK1. J Am Soc Nephrol, 22(3), 460-471. doi:10.1681/asn.2010060681
- Chennaoui, M., Drogou, C., Sauvet, F., Gomez-Merino, D., Scofield, D. E., & Nindl, B. C. (2014). Effect of acute sleep deprivation and recovery on Insulin-like Growth Factor-I responses and inflammatory gene expression in healthy men. *Eur Cytokine Netw*, 25(3), 52-57. doi:10.1684/ecn.2014.0356
- Chuang, L. P., Chen, N. H., Lin, S. W., Hu, H. C., Kao, K. C., Li, L. F., Yang, C. T., Huang, C. C., & Pang, J. S. (2019). Monocytic C-C chemokine receptor 5 expression increases in in vitro intermittent hypoxia condition and in severe obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Sleep Breath*, 23(4), 1177-1186. doi:10.1007/s11325-019-01797-4
- Colbeck, E. J., Ager, A., Gallimore, A., & Jones, G. W. (2017). Tertiary Lymphoid Structures in Cancer: Drivers of Antitumor Immunity, Immunosuppression, or Bystander Sentinels in Disease? *Frontiers in Immunology*, 8. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01830

- Cossarizza, A., Ortolani, C., Paganelli, R., Barbieri, D., Monti, D., Sansoni, P., Fagiolo, U., Castellani, G., Bersani, F., Londei, M., & Franceschi, C. (1996). CD45 isoforms expression on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells throughout life, from newborns to centenarians: implications for T cell memory. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, 86(3), 173-195. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-6374(95)01691-0
- Courtney, A. H., Shvets, A. A., Lu, W., Griffante, G., Mollenauer, M., Horkova, V., Lo, W. L.,
 Yu, S., Stepanek, O., Chakraborty, A. K., & Weiss, A. (2019). CD45 functions as a signaling gatekeeper in T cells. *Sci Signal*, *12*(604). doi:10.1126/scisignal.aaw8151
- Delves, P. J., & Roitt, I. M. (2000a). The immune system. First of two parts. *The New England* Journal of Medicine, 343(1), 37-49. doi:10.1056/nejm200007063430107
- Delves, P. J., & Roitt, I. M. (2000b). The immune system. Second of two parts. *The New England journal of Medicine*, 343(2), 108-117. doi:10.1056/nejm200007133430207
- Diekelmann, S., & Born, J. (2010). The memory function of sleep. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 11*(2), 114-126. doi:10.1038/nrn2762
- Dill, R., & Walker, A. M. (2017). Role of prolactin in promotion of immune cell migration into the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 22(1), 13-26. doi:10.1007/s10911-016-9369-0
- Dimitrov, S., Lange, T., Tieken, S., Fehm, H. L., & Born, J. (2004). Sleep associated regulation of T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine balance in humans. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 18(4), 341-348. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2003.08.004
- Dimke, H., Flyvbjerg, A., Bourgeois, S., Thomsen, K., Frøkiær, J., Houillier, P., Nielsen, S., & Frische, S. (2007). Acute growth hormone administration induces antidiuretic and antinatriuretic effects and increases phosphorylation of NKCC2. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 292(2), F723-F735. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00276.2006
- Ding, Z., Xiong, K., & Issekutz, T. B. (2000). Regulation of chemokine-induced transendothelial migration of T lymphocytes by endothelial activation: differential effects on naive and memory T cells. J Leukoc Biol, 67(6), 825-833. doi:10.1002/jlb.67.6.825
- Dupré, L., Houmadi, R., Tang, C., & Rey-Barroso, J. (2015). T Lymphocyte Migration: An Action Movie Starring the Actin and Associated Actors. *Frontiers in Immunology, 6*. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00586

- Etzioni, A. (1996). Adhesion Molecules-Their Role in Health and Disease. *Pediatric Research*, *39*(2), 191-198. doi:10.1203/00006450-199602000-00001
- Everson, C. A., Henchen, C. J., Szabo, A., & Hogg, N. (2014). Cell injury and repair resulting from sleep loss and sleep recovery in laboratory rats. *Sleep*, 37(12), 1929-1940. doi:10.5665/sleep.4244
- Forlin, R., James, A., & Brodin, P. (2023). Making human immune systems more interpretable through systems immunology. *Trends in Immunology*, 44(8), 577-584. doi:10.1016/j.it.2023.06.005
- Förster, R., Davalos-Misslitz, A. C., & Rot, A. (2008). CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8(5), 362-371. doi:10.1038/nri2297
- Fossum, S., & Ford, W. L. (1985). The organization of cell populations within lymph nodes: their origin, life history and functional relationships. *Histopathology*, *9*(5), 469-499. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2559.1985.tb02830.x
- Freeman, M. E., Kanyicska, B., Lerant, A., & Nagy, G. (2000). Prolactin: Structure, Function, and Regulation of Secretion. *Physiological Reviews*, 80(4), 1523-1631. doi:10.1152/physrev.2000.80.4.1523
- Fukada, K., Sobao, Y., Tomiyama, H., Oka, S., & Takiguchi, M. (2002). Functional Expression of the Chemokine Receptor CCR5 on Virus Epitope-Specific Memory and Effector CD8+ T Cells1. *The Journal of Immunology, 168*(5), 2225-2232. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.5.2225
- Garbarino, S., Lanteri, P., Bragazzi, N. L., Magnavita, N., & Scoditti, E. (2021). Role of sleep deprivation in immune-related disease risk and outcomes. *Commun Biol, 4*(1), 1304. doi:10.1038/s42003-021-02825-4
- Gebhardt, T., Whitney, P. G., Zaid, A., Mackay, L. K., Brooks, A. G., Heath, W. R., Carbone,
 F. R., & Mueller, S. N. (2011). Different patterns of peripheral migration by memory
 CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Nature*, 477(7363), 216-219. doi:10.1038/nature10339
- Girard, J. P., & Springer, T. A. (1995). High endothelial venules (HEVs): specialized endothelium for lymphocyte migration. *Immunology Today*, 16(9), 449-457. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(95)80023-9

Görtelmeyer, R. (2011). SF-A/R und SF-B/R: Schlaffragebogen A und B.

- Grant, S. M., Lou, M., Yao, L., Germain, R. N., & Radtke, A. J. (2020). The lymph node at a glance – how spatial organization optimizes the immune response. *Journal of Cell Science*, 133(5). doi:10.1242/jcs.241828
- Gray, J. I., Westerhof, L. M., & MacLeod, M. K. L. (2018). The roles of resident, central and effector memory CD4 T-cells in protective immunity following infection or vaccination. *Immunology*, 154(4), 574-581. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12929
- Griffith, J. W., Sokol, C. L., & Luster, A. D. (2014). Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 32, 659-702. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120145
- Gu, H., & Rajewsky, K. (2008). B-cell Protocols: Humana Totowa, NJ.
- Gulia, K. K., & Kumar, V. M. (2018). Sleep disorders in the elderly: a growing challenge. *Psychogeriatrics*, 18(3), 155-165. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/psyg.12319
- Hainz, U., Jenewein, B., Asch, E., Pfeiffer, K. P., Berger, P., & Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2005). Insufficient protection for healthy elderly adults by tetanus and TBE vaccines. *Vaccine*, 23(25), 3232-3235. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.01.085
- Hamann, A., Arnold, C. N., & Debes, G. F. (2006). Trafficking of Lymphocyte Subpopulations.In A. Hamann & B. Engelhardt (Eds.), *Leukocyte Trafficking: Molecular Mechanisms, Therapeutic Targets, and Methods*: John Wiley & Sons.
- Haus, E. (2007). Chronobiology in the endocrine system. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 59*(9-10), 985-1014. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2007.01.001
- Henson, S. M., & Akbar, A. N. (2009). KLRG1--more than a marker for T cell senescence. Age, 31(4), 285-291. doi:10.1007/s11357-009-9100-9
- Hilditch, C. J., & McHill, A. W. (2019). Sleep inertia: current insights. *Nat Sci Sleep*, *11*, 155-165. doi:10.2147/nss.s188911
- Hoddes, E., Dement, W., & Zarcone, V. (1972). The development and use of the stanford sleepiness scale. *Psychophysiology*, 9(1), 150-150.
- Horne, J. A., & Ostberg, O. (1976). A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningnesseveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int J Chronobiol*, *4*(2), 97-110.

- Hughes, C. E., & Nibbs, R. J. B. (2018). A guide to chemokines and their receptors. *The Federation of European Biochemical Societies Journal*, 285(16), 2944-2971. doi:10.1111/febs.14466
- Ibarra-Coronado, E. G., Pantaleón-Martínez, A. M., Velazquéz-Moctezuma, J., Prospéro-García, O., Méndez-Díaz, M., Pérez-Tapia, M., Pavón, L., & Morales-Montor, J. (2015). The Bidirectional Relationship between Sleep and Immunity against Infections. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2015, 678164. doi:10.1155/2015/678164
- Iber, C. (2007). The AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events: Rules. *Terminology and Technical Specification*.
- Irwin, M. R. (2015). Why sleep is important for health: a psychoneuroimmunology perspective. *Annu Rev Psychol, 66*, 143-172. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115205
- Irwin, M. R. (2023). Sleep disruption induces activation of inflammation and heightens risk for infectious disease: Role of impairments in thermoregulation and elevated ambient temperature. *Temperature*, 10(2), 198-234. doi:10.1080/23328940.2022.2109932
- Jo, Y., Matsumoto, T., Yada, S., Fujisawa, K., Esaki, M., Onai, N., Matsushima, K., & Iida, M. (2003). CCR4 is an up-regulated chemokine receptor of peripheral blood memory CD4+ T cells in Crohn's disease. *Clin Exp Immunol, 132*(2), 332-338. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.02155.x
- Kaech, S. M., Wherry, E. J., & Ahmed, R. (2002). Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2(4), 251-262. doi:10.1038/nri778
- Kales, A., & Rechtschaffen, A. (1968). A Manual of Standardized Terminology, Techniques and Scoring System for Sleep Stages of Human Subjects: Allan Rechtschaffen and Anthony Kales, Editors: U. S. National Institute of Neurological Diseases and Blindness, Neurological Information Network.
- Katsu, Y., & Baker, M. E. (2021). Subchapter 123E Aldosterone. In H. Ando, K. Ukena, & S. Nagata (Eds.), *Handbook of Hormones (Second Edition)* (pp. 951-953). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Katz, D. H. (1977). VIII Functional Properties of T Lymphocytes. In D. H. Katz (Ed.), Lymphocyte Differentiation, Recognition, and Regulation (pp. 247-342): Academic Press.

- Kelley, K. W., Weigent, D. A., & Kooijman, R. (2007). Protein hormones and immunity. *Brain Behav Immun*, 21(4), 384-392. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2006.11.010
- Kim, S., Han, S., Lee, H. S., Kim, Y.-S., Choi, E.-K., & Kim, M.-Y. (2016). Impaired spleen structure and chemokine expression in ME7 scrapie-infected mice. *Immunobiology*, 221(8), 871-878. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2016.03.008
- Kim, T. W., Jeong, J. H., & Hong, S. C. (2015). The impact of sleep and circadian disturbance on hormones and metabolism. *Int J Endocrinol, 2015*, 591729. doi:10.1155/2015/591729
- Kim, M. J., Yang, H. J., Kim, Y., Kang, I., Kim, S. S., & Cho, Y. W. (2018). Role of nitric oxide and WNK-SPAK/OSR1-KCC2 signaling in daily changes in GABAergic inhibition in the rat dorsal raphe neurons. *Neuropharmacology*, 135, 355-367. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.03.035
- Klein, L., Kyewski, B., Allen, P. M., & Hogquist, K. A. (2014). Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 14(6), 377-391. doi:10.1038/nri3667
- Kleiveland, C. R. (2015). Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. In K. Verhoeckx, P. Cotter, I. López-Expósito, C. Kleiveland, T. Lea, A. Mackie, T. Requena, D. Swiatecka, & H. Wichers (Eds.), *The Impact of Food Bioactives on Health: in vitro and ex vivo models* (pp. 161-167). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Köchl, R., Thelen, F., Vanes, L., Brazão, T. F., Fountain, K., Xie, J., Huang, C.-L., Lyck, R., Stein, J. V., & Tybulewicz, V. L. J. (2016). WNK1 kinase balances T cell adhesion versus migration in vivo. *Nature Immunology*, 17(9), 1075-1083. doi:10.1038/ni.3495
- Kramer, N., Walzl, A., Unger, C., Rosner, M., Krupitza, G., Hengstschläger, M., & Dolznig, H. (2013). In vitro cell migration and invasion assays. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research*, 752(1), 10-24. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2012.08.001
- Krummel, M. F., Bartumeus, F., & Gérard, A. (2016). T cell migration, search strategies and mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *16*(3), 193-201. doi:10.1038/nri.2015.16
- Kryger, M. H., Roth, T., & Dement, W. C. (2011). Normal Human Sleep. In E. Saunders (Ed.), *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine* (Fifth ed.).

- Kumar, B. V., Connors, T. J., & Farber, D. L. (2018). Human T Cell Development, Localization, and Function throughout Life. *Immunity*, 48(2), 202-213. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.007
- Lan, K. C., Chang, D. W., Kuo, C. E., Wei, M. Z., Li, Y. H., Shaw, F. Z., & Liang, S. F. (2015). Using off-the-shelf lossy compression for wireless home sleep staging. *J Neurosci Methods*, 246, 142-152. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.03.013
- Lange, T., Dimitrov, S., Bollinger, T., Diekelmann, S., & Born, J. (2011). Sleep after vaccination boosts immunological memory. *J Immunol*, 187(1), 283-290. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100015
- Lange, T., Dimitrov, S., & Born, J. (2010). Effects of sleep and circadian rhythm on the human immune system. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1193(1), 48-59. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05300.x
- Lange, T., Dimitrov, S., Fehm, H.-L., Westermann, J., & Born, J. (2006). Shift of Monocyte Function Toward Cellular Immunity During Sleep. *Archives of internal medicine*, 166, 1695-1700. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.16.1695
- Lange, T., Luebber, F., Grasshoff, H., & Besedovsky, L. (2022). The contribution of sleep to the neuroendocrine regulation of rhythms in human leukocyte traffic. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, 44(2), 239-254. doi:10.1007/s00281-021-00904-6
- Lange, T., Perras, B., Fehm, H. L., & Born, J. (2003). Sleep enhances the human antibody response to hepatitis A vaccination. *Psychosom Med*, 65(5), 831-835. doi:10.1097/01.psy.0000091382.61178.fl
- Laron, Z. (2001). Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1): a growth hormone. *Mol Pathol*, 54(5), 311-316. doi:10.1136/mp.54.5.311
- LeBien, T. W., & Tedder, T. F. (2008). B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. *Blood, 112*(5), 1570-1580. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-078071
- Lefrançois, L. (2006). Development, trafficking, and function of memory T-cell subsets. *Immunological Reviews, 211*, 93-103. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00393.x
- Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I., & Nourshargh, S. (2007). Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(9), 678-689. doi:10.1038/nri2156

- Li, J., Vitiello, M. V., & Gooneratne, N. S. (2018). Sleep in normal aging. *Sleep med clin, 13*(1), 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.jsmc.2017.09.001
- Lucas, F., & Gribben, J. (2021). Functions of T Lymphocytes: T-Cell Receptors for Antigen. In K. Kaushansky, J. T. Prchal, L. J. Burns, M. A. Lichtman, M. Levi, & D. C. Linch (Eds.), *Williams Hematology, 10e*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Mahnke, Y. D., Brodie, T. M., Sallusto, F., Roederer, M., & Lugli, E. (2013). The who's who of T-cell differentiation: Human memory T-cell subsets. *European Journal of Immunology*, 43(11), 2797-2809. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201343751
- Marques, R. E., Guabiraba, R., Russo, R. C., & Teixeira, M. M. (2013). Targeting CCL5 in inflammation. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 17(12), 1439-1460. doi:10.1517/14728222.2013.837886
- Marshall, J. S., Warrington, R., Watson, W., & Kim, H. L. (2018). An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology, 14*(2), 49. doi:10.1186/s13223-018-0278-1
- Martin, M. D., & Badovinac, V. P. (2018). Defining Memory CD8 T Cell. Frontiers in Immunology, 9. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02692
- Mendoza, T. R., Wang, X. S., Cleeland, C. S., Morrissey, M., Johnson, B. A., Wendt, J. K., & Huber, S. L. (1999). The rapid assessment of fatigue severity in cancer patients: use of the Brief Fatigue Inventory. *Cancer*, 85(5), 1186-1196. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19990301)85:5<1186::aid-cncr24>3.0.co;2-n
- Mercado, A., de Los Heros, P., Melo, Z., Chávez-Canales, M., Murillo-de-Ozores, A. R., Moreno, E., Bazúa-Valenti, S., Vázquez, N., Hadchouel, J., & Gamba, G. (2016). With no lysine L-WNK1 isoforms are negative regulators of the K+-Cl- cotransporters. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 311(1), C54-66. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00193.2015
- Miller, M. J., Wei, S. H., Cahalan, M. D., & Parker, I. (2003). Autonomous T cell trafficking examined in vivo with intravital two-photon microscopy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(5), 2604-2609. doi:10.1073/pnas.2628040100
- Miyasaka, M. (1998). Selectins (CD62-E/L/P). In P. J. Delves (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Immunology (Second Edition)* (pp. 2158-2161). Oxford: Elsevier.

- Mondino, A., Khoruts, A., & Jenkins, M. K. (1996). The anatomy of T-cell activation and tolerance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(6), 2245-2252. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.6.2245
- Moore Jr., J. E., & Bertram, C. D. (2018). Lymphatic System Flows. *Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics*, 50(1), 459-482. doi:10.1146/annurev-fluid-122316-045259
- Mueller, S. N., Gebhardt, T., Carbone, F. R., & Heath, W. R. (2013). Memory T cell subsets, migration patterns, and tissue residence. *Annual Reviews of Immunology*, 31, 137-161. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095954
- Murasko, D. M., Bernstein, E. D., Gardner, E. M., Gross, P., Munk, G., Dran, S., & Abrutyn, E. (2002). Role of humoral and cell-mediated immunity in protection from influenza disease after immunization of healthy elderly. *Exp Gerontol*, 37(2-3), 427-439. doi:10.1016/s0531-5565(01)00210-8
- Murray, P. G., Higham, C. E., & Clayton, P. E. (2015). 60 YEARS OF NEUROENDOCRINOLOGY: The hypothalamo-GH axis: the past 60 years. J Endocrinol, 226(2), T123-140. doi:10.1530/joe-15-0120
- Nourshargh, S., & Alon, R. (2014). Leukocyte Migration into Inflamed Tissues. *Immunity*, *41*(5), 694-707. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.008
- Opp, M. R., & Krueger, J. M. (2015). Sleep and immunity: A growing field with clinical impact. *Brain Behav Immun*, 47, 1-3. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.011
- Oppermann, M. (2004). Chemokine receptor CCR5: insights into structure, function, and regulation. *Cell Signal, 16*(11), 1201-1210. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2004.04.007
- Payne, J. D. (2011). Learning, Memory, and Sleep in Humans. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 6(1), 15-30. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2010.12.005
- Peever, J., & Fuller, P. M. (2017). The Biology of REM Sleep. *Curr Biol, 27*(22), R1237-r1248. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2017.10.026
- Peterson, E. J., & Maltzman, J. S. (2019). T-Cell Activation and Tolerance. In R. R. Rich, T.
 A. Fleisher, W. T. Shearer, H. W. Schroeder, A. J. Frew, & C. M. Weyand (Eds.), *Clinical Immunology (Fifth Edition)* (pp. 183-196.e181). London: Elsevier.
- Pijuan, J., Barceló, C., Moreno, D. F., Maiques, O., Sisó, P., Marti, R. M., Macià, A., & Panosa,A. (2019). In vitro Cell Migration, Invasion, and Adhesion Assays: From Cell Imaging

to Data Analysis. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fcell.2019.00107

- Potsch, C., Vöhringer, D., & Pircher, H. (1999). Distinct migration patterns of naive and effector CD8 T cells in the spleen: correlation with CCR7 receptor expression and chemokine reactivity. *European Journal of Immunology*, 29(11), 3562-3570. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199911)29:11<3562::AID-IMMU3562>3.0.CO;2-R
- Prather, A. A., Hall, M., Fury, J. M., Ross, D. C., Muldoon, M. F., Cohen, S., & Marsland, A. L. (2012). Sleep and antibody response to hepatitis B vaccination. *Sleep*, 35(8), 1063-1069. doi:10.5665/sleep.1990
- Pulendran, B., & Ahmed, R. (2006). Translating innate immunity into immunological memory:
 implications for vaccine development. *Cell*, 124(4), 849-863.
 doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.019
- Qin, S., Rottman, J. B., Myers, P., Kassam, N., Weinblatt, M., Loetscher, M., Koch, A. E., Moser, B., & Mackay, C. R. (1998). The chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CCR5 mark subsets of T cells associated with certain inflammatory reactions. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(4), 746-754. doi:10.1172/JCI1422
- Quinn, A., Raja-Gabaglia, C., Schneider, S. C., Braciak, T., & Sercarz, E. E. (1998). Immune Response. In P. J. Delves (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Immunology (Second Edition)* (pp. 1226-1229). Oxford: Elsevier.
- Rabin, R. L., Park, M. K., Liao, F., Swofford, R., Stephany, D., & Farber, J. M. (1999).
 Chemokine Receptor Responses on T Cells Are Achieved Through Regulation of Both Receptor Expression and Signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*, *162*(7), 3840-3850. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.162.7.3840
- Raphael, I., Nalawade, S., Eagar, T. N., & Forsthuber, T. G. (2015). T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine*, 74(1), 5-17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011
- Rojas-Vega, L., Reyes-Castro, L. A., Ramírez, V., Bautista-Pérez, R., Rafael, C., Castañeda-Bueno, M., Meade, P., de Los Heros, P., Arroyo-Garza, I., Bernard, V., Binart, N., Bobadilla, N. A., Hadchouel, J., Zambrano, E., & Gamba, G. (2015). Ovarian hormones and prolactin increase renal NaCl cotransporter phosphorylation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 308*(8), F799-808. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00447.2014

- Rolls, A., Pang, W. W., Ibarra, I., Colas, D., Bonnavion, P., Korin, B., Heller, H. C., Weissman,
 I. L., & de Lecea, L. (2015). Sleep disruption impairs haematopoietic stem cell transplantation in mice. *Nature communications*, 6(1), 8516. doi:10.1038/ncomms9516
- Ruch, S., Markes, O., Duss, S. B., Oppliger, D., Reber, T. P., Koenig, T., Mathis, J., Roth, C., & Henke, K. (2012). Sleep stage II contributes to the consolidation of declarative memories. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(10), 2389-2396. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.06.008
- Ruddle, N. H., & Akirav, E. M. (2009). Secondary lymphoid organs: responding to genetic and environmental cues in ontogeny and the immune response. *Journal of immunology*, 183(4), 2205-2212. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804324
- Ruiz, F. S., Andersen, M. L., Guindalini, C., Araujo, L. P., Lopes, J. D., & Tufik, S. (2017). Sleep influences the immune response and the rejection process alters sleep pattern: Evidence from a skin allograft model in mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 61*, 274-288. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.027
- Sadamatsu, M., Kato, N., Iida, H., Takahashi, S., Sakaue, K., Takahashi, K., Hashida, S., & Ishikawa, E. (1995). The 24-hour rhythms in plasma growth hormone, prolactin and thyroid stimulating hormone: effect of sleep deprivation. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 7(8), 597-606. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.1995.tb00797.x
- Sallusto, F., Geginat, J., & Lanzavecchia, A. (2004). Central Memory and Effector Memory T Cell Subsets: Function, Generation, and Maintenance. *Annual Reviews of Immunology*, 22(1), 745-763. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104702
- Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Förster, R., Lipp, M., & Lanzavecchia, A. (1999). Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature*, 401(6754), 708-712. doi:10.1038/44385
- Sallusto, F., Mackay, C. R., & Lanzavecchia, A. (1997). Selective expression of the eotaxin receptor CCR3 by human T helper 2 cells. *Science*, 277(5334), 2005-2007. doi:10.1126/science.277.5334.2005
- Sánchez-Madrid, F., & del Pozo, M. A. (1999). Leukocyte polarization in cell migration and immune interactions. *Embo j, 18*(3), 501-511. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.3.501
- Savage, V. M., & West, G. B. (2007). A quantitative, theoretical framework for understanding mammalian sleep. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(3), 1051-1056. doi:10.1073/pnas.0610080104
- Schaller, M. A., Kallal, L. E., & Lukacs, N. W. (2008). A key role for CC chemokine receptor
 1 in T-cell-mediated respiratory inflammation. *Am J Pathol, 172*(2), 386-394.
 doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070537
- Scheiermann, C., Kunisaki, Y., & Frenette, P. S. (2013). Circadian control of the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *13*(3), 190-198. doi:10.1038/nri3386
- Schmid, S. M., Hallschmid, M., & Schultes, B. (2015). The metabolic burden of sleep loss. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 3(1), 52-62. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70012-9
- Schmitz, N. C. M., van der Werf, Y. D., & Lammers-van der Holst, H. M. (2022). The Importance of Sleep and Circadian Rhythms for Vaccination Success and Susceptibility to Viral Infections. *Clocks & amp; Sleep, 4*(1), 66-79.
- Shekarabi, M., Zhang, J., Khanna, A. R., Ellison, D. H., Delpire, E., & Kahle, K. T. (2017).
 WNK Kinase Signaling in Ion Homeostasis and Human Disease. *Cell Metab*, 25(2), 285-299. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2017.01.007
- Sheng, J. A., Bales, N. J., Myers, S. A., Bautista, A. I., Roueinfar, M., Hale, T. M., & Handa, R. J. (2021). The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis: Development, Programming Actions of Hormones, and Maternal-Fetal Interactions. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 14. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2020.601939
- Smaniotto, S., Mendes-da-Cruz, D. A., Carvalho-Pinto, C. E., Araujo, L. M., Dardenne, M., & Savino, W. (2010). Combined role of extracellular matrix and chemokines on peripheral lymphocyte migration in growth hormone transgenic mice. *Brain Behav Immun, 24*(3), 451-461. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2009.11.014
- Smaniotto, S., Ribeiro-Carvalho, M. M., Dardenne, M., Savino, W., & de Mello-Coelho, V. (2004). Growth hormone stimulates the selective trafficking of thymic CD4+CD8emigrants to peripheral lymphoid organs. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 11(5), 299-306. doi:10.1159/000079410

- Smith, S. M., & Vale, W. W. (2006). The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 8(4), 383-395. doi:10.31887/DCNS.2006.8.4/ssmith
- Song, K., Rabin, R. L., Hill, B. J., De Rosa, S. C., Perfetto, S. P., Zhang, H. H., Foley, J. F., Reiner, J. S., Liu, J., Mattapallil, J. J., Douek, D. C., Roederer, M., & Farber, J. M. (2005). Characterization of subsets of CD4⁺ memory T cells reveals early branched pathways of T cell differentiation in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102*(22), 7916-7921. doi:doi:10.1073/pnas.0409720102
- Spencer, R. L., & Deak, T. (2017). A users guide to HPA axis research. *Physiology & Behavior*, 178, 43-65. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.11.014
- Sperling, A., & Bluestone, J. A. (1998). Acquired Immune Response. In P. J. Delves (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Immunology (Second Edition)* (pp. 13-15). Oxford: Elsevier.
- Spiegel, K., Luthringer, R., Follenius, M., Schaltenbrand, N., Macher, J. P., Muzet, A., & Brandenberger, G. (1995). Temporal relationship between prolactin secretion and slowwave electroencephalic activity during sleep. *Sleep*, 18(7), 543-548.
- Spiegel, K., Rey, A. E., Cheylus, A., Ayling, K., Benedict, C., Lange, T., Prather, A. A., Taylor, D. J., Irwin, M. R., & Van Cauter, E. (2023). A meta-analysis of the associations between insufficient sleep duration and antibody response to vaccination. *Current Biology*, 33(5), 998-1005.e1002. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2023.02.017
- Sprent, J., & Surh, C. D. (2011). Normal T cell homeostasis: the conversion of naive cells into memory-phenotype cells. *Nature immunology*, 12(6), 478-484. doi:10.1038/ni.2018
- Stanford, M. M., & Issekutz, T. B. (2003). The relative activity of CXCR3 and CCR5 ligands in T lymphocyte migration: concordant and disparate activities in vitro and in vivo. J Leukoc Biol, 74(5), 791-799. doi:10.1189/jlb.1102547
- Steiger, A. (2002). Sleep and the hypothalamo–pituitary–adrenocortical system. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 6(2), 125-138. doi:https://doi.org/10.1053/smrv.2001.0159
- Stein, J. V., & Nombela-Arrieta, C. (2005). Chemokine control of lymphocyte trafficking: a general overview. *Immunology*, 116(1), 1-12. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005.02183.x

- Sternberg, E. M. (2006). Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coordinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6(4), 318-328. doi:10.1038/nri1810
- Steyer, R., Schwenkmezger, P., Notz, P., & Eid, M. (1994). Testtheoretische Analysen des Mehrdimensionalen Befindlichkeitsfragebogen (MDBF). *Diagnostica*.
- Szymusiak, R. (2018). Body temperature and sleep. *Handb Clin Neurol*, *156*, 341-351. doi:10.1016/b978-0-444-63912-7.00020-5
- Tausk, F., Elenkov, I., & Moynihan, J. (2008). Psychoneuroimmunology. *Dermatol Ther,* 21(1), 22-31. doi:10.1111/j.1529-8019.2008.00166.x
- Taylor, L., Von Lendenfeld, F., Ashton, A., Sanghani, H., Di Pretoro, S., Usselmann, L., Veretennikova, M., Dallmann, R., McKeating, J. A., Vasudevan, S., & Jagannath, A. (2023). Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption alters the lung transcriptome to predispose to viral infection. *iScience*, *26*(2), 105877. doi:10.1016/j.isci.2022.105877
- Textor, J., Peixoto, A., Henrickson, S. E., Sinn, M., von Andrian, U. H., & Westermann, J. (2011). Defining the quantitative limits of intravital two-photon lymphocyte tracking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(30), 12401-12406. doi:10.1073/pnas.1102288108
- Tian, Y., Babor, M., Lane, J., Schulten, V., Patil, V. S., Seumois, G., Rosales, S. L., Fu, Z., Picarda, G., Burel, J., Zapardiel-Gonzalo, J., Tennekoon, R. N., De Silva, A. D., Premawansa, S., Premawansa, G., Wijewickrama, A., Greenbaum, J. A., Vijayanand, P., Weiskopf, D., Sette, A., & Peters, B. (2017). Unique phenotypes and clonal expansions of human CD4 effector memory T cells re-expressing CD45RA. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1473. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-01728-5
- Tune, C., Meinhardt, M., Kalies, K., Pagel, R., Schierloh, L.-K., Hahn, J., Autenrieth, S. E., Koch, C. E., Oster, H., Schampel, A., & Westermann, J. (2020). Effects of sleep on the splenic milieu in mice and the T cell receptor repertoire recruited into a T cell dependent B cell response. *Brain, Behavior, & Immunity Health, 5*, 100082. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100082
- Van den Berghe, G., de Zegher, F., & Bouillon, R. (1998). Clinical review 95: Acute and prolonged critical illness as different neuroendocrine paradigms. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 83(6), 1827-1834. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.6.4763

- van den Broek, T., Borghans, J. A. M., & van Wijk, F. (2018). The full spectrum of human naive T cells. *Nature Reviews Immunology, 18*(6), 363-373. doi:10.1038/s41577-018-0001-y
- Vandekerckhove, M., & Wang, Y. L. (2018). Emotion, emotion regulation and sleep: An intimate relationship. *AIMS Neurosci*, 5(1), 1-17. doi:10.3934/Neuroscience.2018.1.1
- Vitari, A. C., Deak, M., Collins, B. J., Morrice, N., Prescott, A. R., Phelan, A., Humphreys, S., & Alessi, D. R. (2004). WNK1, the kinase mutated in an inherited high-blood-pressure syndrome, is a novel PKB (protein kinase B)/Akt substrate. *Biochem J*, 378(Pt 1), 257-268. doi:10.1042/bj20031692
- von Andrian, U. H., & Mackay, C. R. (2000). T-cell function and migration. Two sides of the same coin. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 343(14), 1020-1034. doi:10.1056/nejm200010053431407
- von Andrian, U. H., & Mempel, T. R. (2003). Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *3*(11), 867-878. doi:10.1038/nri1222
- Wakugawa, M., Nakamura, K., Kakinuma, T., Onai, N., Matsushima, K., & Tamaki, K. (2001). CC chemokine receptor 4 expression on peripheral blood CD4+ T cells reflects disease activity of atopic dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol*, *117*(2), 188-196. doi:10.1046/j.0022-202x.2001.01430.x
- Wan, Y. Y., & Flavell, R. A. (2009). How diverse--CD4 effector T cells and their functions. Journal of molecular cell biology, 1(1), 20-36. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjp001
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 54(6), 1063.
- Weiss, J. T., & Donlea, J. M. (2022). Roles for Sleep in Neural and Behavioral Plasticity: Reviewing Variation in the Consequences of Sleep Loss. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 15. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2021.777799
- Westermann, J., Lange, T., Textor, J., & Born, J. (2015). System consolidation during sleep a common principle underlying psychological and immunological memory formation. *Trends Neurosci*, 38(10), 585-597. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2015.07.007

- Wherry, E. J., Teichgr\u00e4ber, V., Becker, T. C., Masopust, D., Kaech, S. M., Antia, R., von Andrian, U. H., & Ahmed, R. (2003). Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nature Immunology*, 4(3), 225-234. doi:10.1038/ni889
- Wong, P., & Pamer, E. G. (2003). CD8 T Cell Responses to Infectious Pathogens. Annual Review of Immunology, 21(1), 29-70. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141114
- Xia, L., Zhang, P., Niu, J. W., Ge, W., Chen, J. T., Yang, S., Su, A. X., Feng, Y. Z., Wang, F., Chen, G., & Chen, G. H. (2021). Relationships Between a Range of Inflammatory Biomarkers and Subjective Sleep Quality in Chronic Insomnia Patients: A Clinical Study. *Nat Sci Sleep*, *13*, 1419-1428. doi:10.2147/nss.s310698
- Yan, Y., Chen, R., Wang, X., Hu, K., Huang, L., Lu, M., & Hu, Q. (2019). CCL19 and CCR7 Expression, Signaling Pathways, and Adjuvant Functions in Viral Infection and Prevention. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 7. doi:10.3389/fcell.2019.00212
- Zielinski, M. R., McKenna, J. T., & McCarley, R. W. (2016). Functions and Mechanisms of Sleep. *AIMS Neurosci*, *3*(1), 67-104. doi:10.3934/Neuroscience.2016.1.67